

LJMU Research Online

Carney, T, Van Hout, MC, Norman, I, Dada, S, Siegfried, N and Parry, CD

Dihydrocodeine for detoxification and maintenance treatment in individuals with opiate use disorders

http://researchonline.ljmu.ac.uk/id/eprint/16645/

Article

Citation (please note it is advisable to refer to the publisher's version if you intend to cite from this work)

Carney, T, Van Hout, MC, Norman, I, Dada, S, Siegfried, N and Parry, CD (2020) Dihydrocodeine for detoxification and maintenance treatment in individuals with opiate use disorders. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2. ISSN 1469-493X

LJMU has developed LJMU Research Online for users to access the research output of the University more effectively. Copyright © and Moral Rights for the papers on this site are retained by the individual authors and/or other copyright owners. Users may download and/or print one copy of any article(s) in LJMU Research Online to facilitate their private study or for non-commercial research. You may not engage in further distribution of the material or use it for any profit-making activities or any commercial gain.

The version presented here may differ from the published version or from the version of the record. Please see the repository URL above for details on accessing the published version and note that access may require a subscription.

For more information please contact researchonline@ljmu.ac.uk

http://researchonline.ljmu.ac.uk/



Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Dihydrocodeine for detoxification and maintenance treatment in individuals with opiate use disorders (Review)

Carney T, Van Hout MC, Norman I, Dada S, Siegfried N, Parry CDH

Carney T, Van Hout MC, Norman I, Dada S, Siegfried N, Parry CDH. Dihydrocodeine for detoxification and maintenance treatment in individuals with opiate use disorders. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2020, Issue 2. Art. No.: CD012254. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD012254.pub2.

www.cochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER	1
ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	2
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS	4
BACKGROUND	7
OBJECTIVES	9
METHODS	9
RESULTS	12
Figure 1	13
Figure 2	15
Figure 3	16
DISCUSSION	18
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	18
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	19
REFERENCES	20
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES	24
DATA AND ANALYSES	29
Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1 Dihydrocodeine vs buprenorphine, Outcome 1 Urinalysis: clean urine post-detoxification	30
Analysis 1.2. Comparison 1 Dihydrocodeine vs buprenorphine, Outcome 2 Abstinence self-report and urinalysis 3 months post- detoxification.	30
Analysis 1.3. Comparison 1 Dihydrocodeine vs buprenorphine, Outcome 3 Abstinence self-report and urinalysis 6 months post- detoxification.	31
Analysis 1.4. Comparison 1 Dihydrocodeine vs buprenorphine, Outcome 4 Treatment retention: early dropout.	31
Analysis 1.5. Comparison 1 Dihydrocodeine vs buprenorphine, Outcome 5 Overdose A&E attendance: 3 months post- detoxification.	31
Analysis 1.6. Comparison 1 Dihydrocodeine vs buprenorphine, Outcome 6 Overdose A&E attendance: 6 months post- detoxification.	31
Analysis 1.7. Comparison 1 Dihydrocodeine vs buprenorphine, Outcome 7 Overdose hospital attendance: 3 months post- detoxification.	32
Analysis 1.8. Comparison 1 Dihydrocodeine vs buprenorphine, Outcome 8 Overdose hospital attendance: 6 months post- detoxification.	32
ADDITIONAL TABLES	32
APPENDICES	35
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	37
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	37
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	37
DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW	38



[Intervention Review]

Dihydrocodeine for detoxification and maintenance treatment in individuals with opiate use disorders

Tara Carney¹, Marie Claire Van Hout², Ian Norman³, Siphokazi Dada⁴, Nandi Siegfried⁴, Charles DH Parry^{1,5}

¹Alcohol, Tobacco and Other Drug Research Unit, South African Medical Research Council, Tygerberg, South Africa. ²Public Health Institute, Liverpool John Moores University, Liverpool, UK. ³Florence Nightingale Faculty of Nursing and Midwifery, King's College London, London, UK. ⁴Alcohol, Tobacco and Other Drug Research Unit, South African Medical Research Council, Cape Town, South Africa. ⁵Department of Psychiatry, University of Stellenbosch, Tygerberg 7505, South Africa

Contact address: Tara Carney, Alcohol, Tobacco and Other Drug Research Unit, South African Medical Research Council, Francie Van Zijl Drive, Tygerberg, Western Cape, 7505, South Africa. tara.carney@mrc.ac.za.

Editorial group: Cochrane Drugs and Alcohol Group **Publication status and date:** New, published in Issue 2, 2020.

Citation: Carney T, Van Hout MC, Norman I, Dada S, Siegfried N, Parry CDH. Dihydrocodeine for detoxification and maintenance treatment in individuals with opiate use disorders. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2020, Issue 2. Art. No.: CD012254. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD012254.pub2.

Copyright © 2020 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Background

Medical treatment and detoxification from opiate disorders includes oral administration of opioid agonists. Dihydrocodeine (DHC) substitution treatment is typically low threshold and therefore has the capacity to reach wider groups of opiate users. Decisions to prescribe DHC to patients with less severe opiate disorders centre on its perceived safety, reduced toxicity, shorter half-life and more rapid onset of action, and potential retention of patients. This review set out to investigate the effects of DHC in comparison to other pharmaceutical opioids and placebos in the detoxification and substitution of individuals with opiate use disorders.

Objectives

To investigate the effectiveness of DHC in reducing illicit opiate use and other health-related outcomes among adults compared to other drugs or placebos used for detoxification or substitution therapy.

Search methods

In February 2019 we searched Cochrane Drugs and Alcohol's Specialised Register, CENTRAL, PubMed, Embase and Web of Science. We also searched for ongoing and unpublished studies via ClinicalTrials.gov, the World Health Organization (WHO) International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (ICTRP) and Trialsjournal.com. All searches included non-English language literature. We handsearched references of topic-related systematic reviews and the included studies.

Selection criteria

We included randomised controlled trials that evaluated the effect of DHC for detoxification and maintenance substitution therapy for adolescent (aged 15 years and older) and adult illicit opiate users.

The primary outcomes were abstinence from illicit opiate use following detoxification or maintenance therapy measured by self-report or urinalysis. The secondary outcomes were treatment retention and other health and behaviour outcomes.

Data collection and analysis

We followed the standard methodological procedures that are outlined by Cochrane. This includes the GRADE approach to appraise the quality of evidence.

Main results

We included three trials (in five articles) with 385 opiate-using participants that measured outcomes at different follow-up periods in this review. Two studies with 150 individuals compared DHC with buprenorphine for detoxification, and one study with 235 participants compared DHC to methadone for maintenance substitution therapy. We downgraded the quality of evidence mainly due to risk of bias and imprecision.

For the two studies that compared DHC to buprenorphine, we found low-quality evidence of no significant difference between DHC and buprenorphine for detoxification at six-month follow-up (risk ratio (RR) 0.59, 95% confidence interval (Cl) 0.25 to 1.39; P = 0.23) in the meta-analysis for the primary outcome of abstinence from illicit opiates. Similarly, low-quality evidence indicated no difference for treatment retention (RR 1.29, 95% Cl 0.99 to 1.68; P = 0.06).

In the single trial that compared DHC to methadone for maintenance substitution therapy, the evidence was also of low quality, and there may be no difference in effects between DHC and methadone for reported abstinence from illicit opiates (mean difference (MD) -0.01, 95% CI -0.31 to 0.29). For treatment retention at six months' follow-up in this single trial, the RR calculated with an intention-to-treat analysis also indicated that there may be no difference between DHC and methadone (RR 1.04, 95% CI 0.94 to 1.16).

The studies that compared DHC to buprenorphine reported no serious adverse events, while the DHC versus methadone study reported one death due to methadone overdose.

Authors' conclusions

We found low-quality evidence that DHC may be no more effective than other commonly used pharmacological interventions in reducing illicit opiate use. It is therefore premature to make any conclusive statements about the effectiveness of DHC, and it is suggested that further high-quality studies are conducted, especially in low- to middle-income countries.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Can dihydrocodeine reduce illegal opiate use in adolescents and adults?

Review question

We reviewed evidence on the effects of dihydrocodeine (DHC) to reduce illegal substance use among adolescents older than 15 years and adults.

Background

The use of illegal substances such as heroin is a world-wide problem, and can lead to other issues. What is especially concerning is the farreaching health consequences of this substance use. This includes high numbers of deaths due to heroin and other opiates from overdoses, and the fact that it is a risk factor for Hepatitis C and HIV, particularly among those who inject their drugs.

We wanted to learn if DHC has a positive effect on decreasing this kind of drug use among those adolescents and adults. DHC is a type of opiate that is codeine-based.

Search date

The evidence is current to February 2019.

Study characteristics

We included three studies in this review with 385 participants in total with follow-up periods of different length. Two studies with 150 participants compared DHC to buprenorphine for detoxification (managing physical symptoms of withdrawal), while one study with 235 individuals compared DHC to methadone for maintenance substitution therapy (providing legal substance to reduce risk behaviour and other harm related to drug use over a longer period). All the studies took place in the UK.

Our primary outcome was abstinence or no longer using illegal substances; our secondary outcomes were completing treatment, as well as health-related consequences of substance use, and other behaviours often linked to substance use such as illegal activity. We also assessed the safety of DHC.

Key results

For detoxification from illegal substances such as heroin, DHC may not work any better than buprenorphine in reducing substance use, keeping individuals in treatment and other behaviours. The pattern stayed the same for follow-up appointments.

For maintenance treatment, DHC also may not work better than methadone in reducing substance use or any of the secondary outcomes, but participants may be more likely to stay in treatment. This finding remained the same across longer follow-up periods as well.

Dihydrocodeine for detoxification and maintenance treatment in individuals with opiate use disorders (Review) Copyright © 2020 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



The only adverse event reported was one death from a methadone overdose in the study that compared DHC with methadone as maintenance therapy.

The pattern of results indicates that individuals who received DHC generally may not do better in reducing their substance use, completing treatment or other measures of substance-related behaviours than those that received other types of medication. However it is premature to make definitive statements about the efficacy of DHC for reducing illegal substance use, due to the low quality of evidence.

Quality of evidence

Overall, the evidence was of low quality. There were two major issues across the studies. There was no blinding of the participants or those who assessed the outcomes, so that they were aware of which group they were in. There was also a high level of participants who dropped out of two of the studies.

Study funding sources

All three studies were funded by government or research foundation organisations.

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

Summary of findings for the main comparison. Dihydrocodeine compared to buprenorphine for detoxification in illicit-opiate-dependent individuals

Dihydrocodeine compared to buprenorphine for detoxification in illicit-opiate-dependent individuals

Patient or population: individuals dependent on illicit opiates

Setting: general medical setting and male prison

Intervention: dihydrocodeine (DHC)

Comparison: buprenorphine

Outcomes	Anticipated absolute effects [*] (95% CI)		Relative effect (95% CI)	Number of par- ticipants	Quality of the evidence	Comments
	Risk with buprenorphine	Risk with DHC		(studies)	(GRADE)	
Abstinence	Study population		RR 0.42 - (0.11 to 1.57)	150 (2 RCTs)	⊕⊕⊝⊝ Low ^{1,2}	
Assessed by urinalysis post-detoxification	429 per 1000	225 per 1000	- (0.11 (0 1.57)	(2 1013)	LOW	
Abstinence	Study population		RR 0.59	150 (2 PCTc)		
Self-report and urinalysis 3 months post-detoxification	329 per 1000	200 per 1000	- (0.26 to 1.31)	(2 RCTs)	Low ^{1,2}	
Abstinence	Study population		RR 0.59	150 (2 DCT=)	⊕⊕⊝⊝ . 1.2	
Self-report and urinalysis 6 months post-detoxification	170 per 1000	100 per 1000	- (0.25 to 1.39)	(2 RCTs)	Low ^{1,2}	
Serious adverse events or adverse events	None reported			150 (2 RCTs)	⊕⊕⊝⊝ Low ^{1,2}	
Treatment retention	Study population		RR 1.29 150 (2 RCTs) ⊕⊕⊙⊙			
Early dropout	414 per 1000	538 per 1000	- (0.99 to 1.68)		Low ^{1,2}	

*The risk in the intervention group (and its 95% confidence interval) is based on the assumed risk in the comparison group and the relative effect of the intervention (and its 95% CI).

CI: confidence interval; DHC: dihydrocodeine; RCT: randomised controlled trial; RR: risk ratio

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence

High quality: Further research is very unlikely to change our confidence in the estimate of the effect

4

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

Cochrane Library

Moderate quality Further research is likely to have an important effect on our confidence in the estimate of the effect and may change the estimate of the effect. **Low quality:** Further research is very likely to have an important effect on our confidence in the estimate of the effect and is likely to change the estimate of the effect. **Very low quality:** We are uncertain about the estimate.

¹Risk of bias: marked down for lack of blinding of participants, personal and outcome assessor for self-report outcome, and incomplete outcome data, as high attrition in both studies.

²Imprecision: marked down as included studies have small sample sizes with small number of events, confidence intervals with range that includes estimate of no effect (RR=1), and both appreciable benefit and/or harm.

Summary of findings 2. Dihydrocodeine compared to methadone for substitution therapy in illicit-opiate-dependent individuals

Dihydrocodeine compared to methadone for substitution therapy in illicit-opiate-dependent individuals

Patient or population: individuals dependent on illicit opiates Setting: general medical setting Intervention: dihydrocodeine (DHC) Comparison: methadone

Outcomes	Anticipated absolute effects [*] (95% CI)		Relative effect (95% CI)	Number of participants	Quality of the C evidence	Comments
	Risk with methadone	Risk with DHC		(studies)	(GRADE)	
Abstinence Assessed with illicit opiate score at 6-		The mean DHC vs methadone illicit opiates	MD -0.01 (-0.31 to 0.29)	204		
month follow-up		mean difference was -0.01	10 0.29)	(1 RCT)	Low ^{1,2}	
Serious adverse events or adverse events	1 methadone death in a total of 399.5 person-years		n/a	204 (1 RCT)	⊕⊕⊝⊝ Low ^{1,2}	
Death due to methadone use	of follow-up			(I KCI)	LOW1,2	
Treatment retention	845 per 1000	880 per 1000	RR 1.04	204		
Assessed with number of individuals at 6-month follow-up			(0.94 to 1.16)	(1 RCT)	Low ^{1,2}	

*The risk in the intervention group (and its 95% confidence interval) is based on the assumed risk in the comparison group and the relative effect of the intervention (and its 95% CI).

CI: confidence interval; MD: mean difference; RCT: randomised controlled trial; RR: risk ratio

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence

High quality: Further research is very unlikely to change our confidence in the estimate of the effect

Moderate quality: Further research is likely to have an important effect on our confidence in the estimate of the effect and may change the estimate of the effect.

сл

Copyright © 2020 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

Dihydrocodeine

for detoxification

and maintenance treatment in individuals with opiate

use disorders (Review)

Low quality: Further research is very likely to have an important effect on our confidence in the estimate of the effect and is likely to change the estimate of the effect. Very low quality: We are uncertain about the estimate

¹Risk of bias: marked down as blinding of participants, personnel and outcome assessors was not done. ²Imprecision: marked down, as data only come from one study with fewer than 400 participants, therefore viewed as imprecise.



BACKGROUND

Description of the condition

According to the World Drug Report, approximately a quarter of a billion people (5 percent of the world population aged 15 to 64 years) in 2015 had used drugs at least once in the previous year, with an estimated 28 million years of healthy life lost to drug use. It is estimated that 12 million years of healthy life were lost to opioid use specifically (UNODC 2017). Injection drug use is estimated at 12 million drug users worldwide (UNODC 2017). In addition to related social, economic and law enforcement costs, injecting risk behaviours contribute to HIV and hepatitis C vulnerability and transmission. Harm reduction services act as a major component in global tactics and responses to the spread of HIV, and include needle and syringe programmes, opioid substitution therapy, HIV testing and counselling, and antiretroviral therapy (UNODC 2017). According to the World Health Bulletin in 2011, governments of countries in which injecting drug use and HIV epidemics represent a public health problem are increasingly interested in alternative opioid substitution therapy modalities within integrated HIV prevention and treatment programmes (Kermode 2011).

There are an estimated 15.5 to 17.7 million people worldwide aged 15 years and older who are dependent on illicit opiates (Degenhardt 2014; UNODC 2017), which is an estimated prevalence of 0.14% for men and 0.30% for women. In terms of illicit opiates and opioids, recent global trends indicate displacement between pharmaceutical or prescription opioids, or both, and heroin, dependent on pricing, availability and access in illicit drug markets (UNODC 2017). Severe opioid disorders were estimated to account for 9.2 million disability-adjusted life years lost (DALYs) worldwide in 2010, which is 0.37% of the total DALYs lost worldwide (Degenhardt 2014). The burden increased 73% in 10 years (from 1990 to 2010). Seven million of these DALYs were lost due to disability (years lost to disability (YLD)), which accounts for almost half (43.7%) of YLDs that are attributed to illicit drug use disorders in total and 0.94% of all YLDs worldwide. In addition, 2 million years of life lost are estimated to be due to severe opioid disorders (Degenhardt 2014). In 2010 alone, a total of 43,000 deaths were attributed to illicit opiate use (Degenhardt 2014). Recently the USA has been experiencing an opioid epidemic, with an estimated 42,245 deaths in this country in 2016 alone (Gomes 2018).

Opioid disorders develop following the regular use of opioids, with severe opioid disorder defined as a chronic, relapsing disorder which may have serious consequences, including disability and even death (APA 2013). Opioid disorders may contribute to compulsive drug-seeking behaviours, difficulties in controlling consumption, a withdrawal state upon reduction or cessation, and evidence of tolerance, despite destructive physical and psychosocial consequences for the user (WHO 2009). A distinct feature of opioid use is that it can lead to physical dependence after as little as one to two months of use. According to the DSM-V (APA 2013), opioid disorders are characterised by two or more of the following 11 symptoms occurring together in the previous year of use. Mild opioid disorders are defined by four or five criteria and severe opioid disorders are defined by six or more criteria:

1. taking opioids in larger amounts or over a longer period of time than intended;

- 2. difficulties in cutting down or controlling opioid use;
- 3. spending a large amount of time getting or using opioids or recovering from its effects;
- 4. craving or a strong desire to take opioids;
- 5. recurrent opioid use resulting in not fulfilling major obligations;
- continued opioid use despite recurring social or interpersonal problems;
- 7. progressive neglect of alternative pleasures or interests because of opioid use;
- 8. recurrent opioid use in physically hazardous situations;
- 9. continued opioid use despite clear evidence of physical or psychological problems associated with use;
- 10.experiencing withdrawal or use of opioids to avoid or relieve withdrawal;
- 11.tolerance (APA 2013).

Opioid disorder incurs health, social, law enforcement and economic costs. In terms of health, illicit opioid use is a major causal factor in mortality from both intoxication (overdose, driving accidents), and transmission of blood-borne disease via injecting risk behaviours (Degenhardt 2011). The primary cause of death for opiate users is overdose (UNODC 2013). Although data are limited, it is estimated that 70,000 to 100,000 people die from such overdose every year (UNODC WHO 2013). Other causes of death include trauma (including violence and homicide, injuries and accidents), suicide, and liver- and respiratory-related disease (Darke 2002; Darke 2012; Degenhardt 2011; Vlahov 2004). Illicit opiate users often inject their drugs, which is strongly related to HIV transmission. An estimated 5% to 10% of HIV transmissions are estimated to be due to injection drug use, often of an opiate such as heroin. In some parts of the world, this is as high as 40% (Mathers 2010). A recent systematic review also found that AIDS-related mortality was 1.88 per 100 person years across studies conducted in Asia, Europe (central and western), North America and Australasia (Degenhardt 2011). Unsafe injecting practices associated with illicit opiate use have also been associated with hepatitis C transmission, with an estimated 3 to 4 million people newly infected every year and 90% of these new infections attributable to unsafe injection practices (Hellard 2009).

In addition, opiate use can cause harm beyond the individual who uses opiates. The use of illicit opiates such as heroin and morphine among pregnant women can have serious effects for their unborn babies including spontaneous abortion and infant mortality. Opiates are also transferable to the foetus and change the placental function, making preterm delivery a strong possibility. Babies can be born with congenital issues, and experience withdrawal from opiates (Malek 2012). Neonatal abstinence syndrome (NAS), which is the withdrawal from opioids of a newborn baby, is a wellestablished phenomenon (Finnegan 1975). It may last up to 10 weeks after delivery and require that the affected child-to-be is placed in the intensive care unit, because if they are untreated this can lead to increased risk of infant mortality (Jansson 2009; Malek 2012). This may have significant costs for healthcare services (Patrick 2012).

Description of the intervention

period of time Evidence has shown that opioid substitution therapy programmes are effective in reducing opiate use, HIV-related risk behaviours, fatal overdose and criminal activity, and associated family,



community and financial stress. They also enhance access to and continued use of medical and social services in both adolescents (Minozzi 2014), and adults (Ferri 2011; Gowing 2011; Lawrinson 2008; Mattick 2014; Weber 2009), including pregnant women (Minozzi 2013). Despite this evidence of effectiveness, it is estimated globally that only 8% of people who inject drugs receive opioid substitution therapy, with lower figures in low- and middleincome countries (Mathers 2010). In addition, more recent reports indicate that donor funding has recently been decreased for harm reduction for people who inject drugs, which includes opiate users (Cook 2018).

Opiate users often present to community and specialist services requesting detoxification (Oldham 2004). Approaches to assist and support individuals who are dependent on opiates include detoxification, relapse prevention programmes, outpatient counselling, therapeutic communities and long-term opiate substitution (Amato 2005; Amato 2011). Treatment and detoxification using various therapeutic agents is vital in the management of people dependent on opiates. Agents include oral administration of full or partial opioid agonists (i.e. methadone, buprenorphine, levomethadyl acetate (LAAM), codeine or oral morphine; Amato 2005; Gowing 2011; Riksheim 2014). Methadone maintenance treatment is the most frequently prescribed treatment worldwide. One exception is in France where greater proportions of patients are prescribed buprenorphine (Auriacombe 2004).

Methadone maintenance treatment has been extensively studied, showing strong evidence for its effectiveness in recent Cochrane Reviews (Mattick 2009; Mattick 2014). Calls to scale up availability of methadone maintenance treatment have been evident in recent years (Mathers 2010; Mattick 2009). Low-threshold methadone maintenance treatment is increasingly popular and designed to: attract a wider range of opiate-dependent people; reduce barriers to admission; improve retention of people in treatment; and reduce heroin use, injecting risk behaviours, criminal activity and mortality rates (Strike 2013). Retention in treatment outcomes are related to appropriate and higher doses of methadone and individualisation of doses (Amato 2005; Bao 2009). However, methadone maintenance treatment remains controversial due to its indefinite and often long-term provision of dependenceproducing medication (Amato 2005; Sees 2000).

Buprenorphine is also effective as a maintenance treatment agent, with comparisons to methadone in a Cochrane Review concluding that both are effective in the maintenance treatment of heroin dependence, retention of patients in treatment at any dose above 2 mg, and suppression of illicit opioid use at doses of 16 mg or higher (Mattick 2014). However, this Cochrane Review suggests that compared to methadone, buprenorphine results in poorer patient retention in treatment when doses are flexible or at low, fixed doses. On the other hand, Maas 2013 advises the provision of buprenorphine as appropriate if the primary outcomes of treatment are stopping opiate use, as well as maintaining abstinence. Buprenorphine may cause fewer fatal intoxications than methadone (Soyka 2015). Comparisons between buprenorphine and methadone at fixed, medium or high doses show that effectiveness relating to treatment retention and suppression of illicit opioid use appear similar (Mattick 2009). Of note is that flexible doses of these agents are more cost effective and applicable to patient care (Connock 2007), and that methadone

is superior in retaining patients in treatment (Mattick 2014). Costs of methadone provision are also lower than those for buprenorphine (Maas 2013).

Recent studies have underscored the effects of varied aspects of these substitution programmes and the interplay of individual patient factors (Arora 2013; Riksheim 2014; Strike 2013). Other concerns centre on the safety and effectiveness of methadone and buprenorphine in specific patient subgroups (Connock 2007). Of note is that the presence of adjunct psycho-social support and treatment do not incur additional benefits to treatment outcomes, and highlight the need for employing varied criteria in assessment of treatment outcomes as they relate to individual, interpersonal, vocational, health and emotional functioning, and subsequent recommendations (Amato 2011; Davoli 2015). Alternatives include heroin substitution treatment, with Cochrane Reviews suggesting that the prescribing of heroin alongside flexible doses of methadone is a feasible option for long-term, treatmentrefractory opioid users who have a history of failed maintenance treatment (Ferri 2011). Several small trials have assessed the use of slow release oral morphine but there is insufficient evidence to show that it is effective, and there have also been reports of adverse events (Ferri 2013).

A Cochrane Review comparing treatments for opiate withdrawals found no significant differences between methadone and buprenorphine in treatment completion, but faster reduction of withdrawal symptoms with buprenorphine, and with buprenorphine more effective than clonidine in the management of opioid withdrawal (Gowing 2017a). Given positive retention rates of methadone maintenance treatment in comparison to detoxification programmes, studies have reported low support for diverting resources from methadone maintenance towards longterm detoxification (Sees 2000). Methadone has a long half-life and when tapering employs incremental dose reductions over a course of 7 to 21 days. However patients report unpleasant withdrawals in later stages of detoxification, giving rise to the increased use of alternatives such as clonidine, lofexidine and dihydrocodeine (DHC) to assist. Clonidine and lofexidine are more effective than placebo in withdrawal management (Gowing 2016). Complications caused by clonidine's hypotensive and sedative effect, and lofexidine's limited capacity to manage withdrawals have reduced their popularity in primary and community care settings (Seivewright 2000). Slow tapering with temporary substitution of long-acting opioids can reduce severity of withdrawals (Amato 2013). Antagonist-induced withdrawal under heavy sedation or anaesthesia as a detoxification option lacks value due to cost, the potential for adverse life-threatening events, and required intensive care resources (Gowing 2017b).

Not much is known about how DHC works in comparison to other pharmacological interventions that are commonly used. It is suggested, however, that DHC is a short-acting opioid (Banbery 2000), and therefore will need to be administered more frequently, up to a few times a day (Banbery 2000; Hall 2007). DHC has been proposed as a substitute for long-acting opioids such as methadone in order to assist with withdrawal symptoms (Banbery 2000). It is also proposed that switching from long-acting opioids such as methadone to DHC can be used during the detoxification process (Day 2003).



How the intervention might work

DHC is a semi-synthetic opioid analogue of codeine (Klepstad 2005), and a short-acting drug, which offers an alternative substitution treatment and detoxification support to individuals with mild to moderate opiate use disorder, and to stabilise methadone patients (Banbery 2000; Krausz 1995; Krausz 1998). DHC is well tolerated orally and has a half-life of about four hours (Banbery 2000). In addition to its viable uses as an alternative to methadone treatment (Banbery 2000; Hall 2007; Krausz 1995; Krausz 1998), it is also commonly prescribed as an antitussive, anti-diarrhoeal agent and analgesic drug in the treatment of moderate pain (Leppert 2010; Moore 2000; Webb 2001).

DHC maintenance treatment is typically low threshold, less bureaucratic, may possibly increase patient choice and retention in treatment, and may be prescribed by general practitioners in the form of capsules and juice for dispensing at pharmacies (Krausz 1998). Banbery 2000 reports that DHC may have advantages in detoxifying methadone-maintained patients in a rapid two-week outpatient detoxification programme by successfully using DHC to cross over from a methadone dose (30 mg). They report that, on consecutive use, a "steady-state" condition for DHC is achieved and weaning can be accomplished successfully with minimal complications within a few days.

However, in contrast to methadone and buprenorphine, DHC may be compromised by its short-acting properties, necessitating frequent dosing and risk of patients oscillating between sedation and withdrawals (Backmund 2001; Banbery 2000; Seymour 2001; Strang 2005). Prescribed DHC is often inadequate in relieving acute opiate withdrawals (Tompkins 2007). The importance of reducing periods of relative withdrawal between doses is thus emphasised (Mitchell 2003), along with the need for experienced prescribing practitioners in detoxification using DHC, similar to methadone (Bao 2009).

Why it is important to do this review

The most recent World Drug Report (UNODC 2017), has highlighted gaps in service provision for problem drug users receiving access to drug treatment, both in the community and in more specialised settings such as prisons. DHC's efficacy and effectiveness as substitution therapy and its use for detoxification is controversial (Banbery 2000; Ulmer 1997; Zamaprutti 2010), and debate centres on its potential for use as treatment and detoxification for specific individuals with mild to moderate opioid use disorder and for stabilised methadone patients (Luty 2004). Dissatisfaction with the long half-life of methadone has stimulated patient interest in alternative forms of short-term detoxification, such as the use of short-acting drugs like DHC (Oldham 2004). If DHC is shown to be effective as a short-term detoxification treatment in community and special settings, it may well be a more cost-effective option for governments than the long-term use of methadone.

There have not been many studies on the possibility of using DHC as an alternative to other pharmacological interventions. There is some evidence on the usefulness of DHC in managing opiate withdrawals for individuals in police custody (Pearson 2000), and on its safety, flexibility, potential retention of patients in treatment and its capacity to reach wider groups of stabilised or low-threshold drug users who use opiates (Krausz 1998; MacLeod 1998; Robertson 1990; Swadi 1990). However, these studies are dated and there

is a need for a more systematic review of the evidence. DHC has the potential for use in treating such wider groups of drug users, particularly those with lower severity of opiate disorder, accessing community care and general health settings, and as an alternative for use in high-income as well as low- and middle-income countries. It could present a useful alternative for short-term detoxification of individuals in the community or be provided as an alternative within specific settings such as prisons. A systematic review of the evidence also indicates the need for experienced prescribing practitioners in detoxification using DHC (Arora 2013), where there are no existing guidelines on standard use, as well as studies to establish whether it is feasible for maintenance therapy.

OBJECTIVES

To investigate the effectiveness of DHC in reducing illicit opiate use and other health-related outcomes among adults compared to other drugs or placebos used for detoxification or substitution therapy.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

Randomised controlled trials (RCTs). We excluded from this review pre- and post-test studies and qualitative studies. We also excluded quasi-randomised studies, such as those allocating to interventions by alternate days of the week. We included studies involving additional psychological treatments if participants were randomly allocated to DHC or comparison medication, and groups were balanced in terms of proportion of participants receiving additional treatment.

Types of participants

Participants are adolescent (aged 15 years and older) and adult individuals who are currently dependent on illicit opiates (heroin, opium and illegally-sourced opiates such as morphine and codeine), diagnosed according to the DSM (III, IV or V) criteria (APA 2013).

We excluded participants who had serious pre-existing conditions (psychiatric conditions, pregnancy). We also excluded individuals with contraindications to DHC or the comparison pharmacological intervention.

Types of interventions

Experimental intervention

Interventions included DHC as dispensed to participants primarily for detoxification from opioid-agonist treatments, and secondarily for maintenance purposes. Since DHC is a short-acting opioid, treatment may initially need to be provided every four hours (Hall 2007). In addition, because there are no regulations for the provision of DHC as substitution therapy, there may be marked differences in the dispensing of DHC (NICE 2007; Strang 2005). However, we expected that detoxification would last up to 15 days, and maintenance for a minimum of 30 days, based on previous studies of opiate-substitution therapy.



Control intervention

The control had to be treatment as usual, placebo or other types of pharmacological intervention. These included full (methadone, LAAM, oral morphine) or partial opioid antagonists (buprenorphine), as well as other medication such as alpha 2 adrenergic agonists (clonidine and lofexidine) and antagonist medication (naltrexone).

Types of outcome measures

Primary outcomes

- 1. Abstinence from illicit opiate use after detoxification or maintenance therapy, either through self-report or urinalysis, measured as the number of participants abstinent at the end of treatment and at follow-up.
- 2. Number of participants who experienced serious adverse events. According to the guidelines, serious adverse events include events that result in death, are life-threatening, require hospitalisation or an extension of existing hospitalisation, result in persistent or significant disability or incapacity, result in congenital problems or any other event that may put the participant's health in jeopardy and may require medical or surgical intervention to prevent this (OHRP 2007). This includes the development of drug abuse or dependency on DHC.
- 3. Number of participants who experienced adverse events. Including any unfavourable medical occurrences that participants experience at least partly due to their participation in the study. This includes both physical and psychological events (OHRP 2007).

Secondary outcomes

- 1. Treatment retention at the end of treatment and at followup appointments (since dropout is a major problem in the treatment of illegal opioids)
- 2. Drug overdose/admission to health services (symptoms of overdose and not limited to death due to overdose)
- 3. Physical health (typically related to substance use such as appetite, levels of energy, nausea)
- 4. Use of other substances of abuse (both legal and illegal)
- 5. Engagement in crime
- 6. Diversion (selling of drugs, use of prescribed opiates for illegal use)
- 7. Education and employment status

Search methods for identification of studies

Electronic searches

In February 2019, the Cochrane Drugs and Alcohol Information Specialist (IS) conducted systematic searches in the following databases for RCTs and controlled clinical trials without language, publication year or publication status restrictions:

- 1. Cochrane Drugs and Alcohol Group (CDAG) Specialised Register searched on 1 February 2019 (via CRSLive);
- 2. Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL; 2019, Issue 11) via onlinelibrary.wiley.com;
- 3. MEDLINE (PubMed; January 1966 to 1 February 2019);
- 4. Embase (OVID; January 1974 to 1 February 2019);

5. Web of Science (Thomson Reuters; January 1990 to 1 February 2019).

The IS developed a detailed search strategy in CENTRAL and then revised it accordingly for each database to take into account differences in controlled vocabulary and syntax rules. The search strategy combined the subject search with the Cochrane Highly Sensitive Search Strategy for identifying randomised trials, as referenced in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Lefebvre 2011).

Search strategies for major databases are provided in Appendix 1.

We searched the following trials registries on 1 February 2019:

- 1. ClinicalTrials.gov (www.clinicaltrials.gov);
- World Health Organization (WHO) International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (ICTRP) (apps.who.int/trialsearch/);
- 3. trialsjournal.com.

Searching other resources

We also contacted study authors as needed and searched reference lists in all relevant journal articles to obtain information on potential additional RCTs. In addition, the review authors also searched for other unpublished studies and assessed relevant conference proceedings for additional references.

The search included all studies with an English abstract, whether or not the full article was in a foreign language. After reading the abstract, we obtained all articles that appeared to possibly meet the inclusion criteria. All of the articles were in English.

Data collection and analysis

Selection of studies

Two authors (TC, IN) independently inspected the titles and abstracts that we found in the searches. We obtained potentiallyrelevant articles in full text and the same two review authors further assessed them for eligibility. There was no disagreement between these two authors that could not be resolved following their independent review of the full text, but another author (MCVH) was available to read the studies in order to assist with making a decision on whether to include or exclude the article if needed.

Data extraction and management

Two of the review authors (TC and IN) independently extracted data from the included studies using a data extraction form that was adapted from a standard extraction form used by Cochrane Drugs and Alcohol. We then entered these data into the Cochrane software, Review Manager 5, for data analysis (Review Manager 2014). We then extracted the following data: number of participants treated, participants' characteristics, route of administration of DHC and comparison, dosage of DHC and comparison, study design, study duration and length of follow-up, results related to the primary and secondary outcomes, funding source and conflict of interest of study authors.

When there was information missing from the original studies on outcomes or other important information, we attempted to contact the corresponding author via email in order to request additional data.

Cochrane Library

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

We performed the 'Risk of bias' assessment of RCTs in this review using the criteria recommended in the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions (Higgins 2017). The recommended approach for assessing risk of bias in studies included in a Cochrane Review is a two-part tool that addresses seven specific domains, namely sequence generation and allocation concealment (selection bias), blinding of participants and providers (performance bias) blinding of outcome assessors (detection bias), incomplete outcome data (attrition bias), selective outcome reporting (reporting bias) and other sources of bias. The first part of the tool involves describing what the study authors reported. The second part of the tool involves assigning a judgment relating to the risk of bias for that entry, in terms of low, high or unclear risk. To make these judgments we used the criteria indicated in the Cochrane Handbook of Systematic Reviews of interventions, adapted to the addiction field. See Table 1 for details.

The domains of sequence generation and allocation concealment (avoidance of selection bias) were addressed in the tool by a single entry for each study.

We considered blinding of participants, personnel and outcome assessors (avoidance of performance bias and detection bias) separately for objective outcomes (e.g. dropout, use of substance of abuse measured by urinalysis and/or self-report, participants relapsed at the end of follow-up, participants engaged in further treatments) and subjective outcomes (e.g. duration and severity of signs and symptoms of withdrawal, participant self-reported use of substance, side effects, social functioning as integration at school or at work or in family relationships).

We considered incomplete outcome data (avoidance of attrition bias) for all outcomes except for treatment dropout, which is very often the primary outcome measure in trials on addiction.

Grading of evidence

We assessed the overall quality of the evidence for the primary outcome using the GRADE system. The GRADE Working Group developed a system for grading the quality of evidence (GRADE 2004; Guyatt 2008; Guyatt 2011), which takes into account issues not only related to internal validity but also to external validity, such as directness, consistency, imprecision of results and publication bias. The 'Summary of findings' tables present the main findings of a review in a transparent and simple tabular format. In particular, they provide key information concerning the quality of evidence, the magnitude of effect of the interventions examined and the sum of available data on the main outcomes.

The GRADE system uses the following criteria for assigning grades of evidence:

- 1. High: we are very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the effect.
- 2. Moderate: we are moderately confident in the effect estimate; the true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect, but there is a possibility that it is substantially different.
- Low: our confidence in the effect estimate is limited; the true effect may be substantially different from the estimate of the effect.

4. Very low: we have very little confidence in the effect estimate; the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect.

We decreased grading for the following reasons:

- 1. serious (-1) or very serious (-2) limitation to study quality;
- 2. important inconsistency (-1);
- 3. some (-1) or major (-2) concerns about directness;
- 4. imprecise or sparse data (-1);
- 5. high probability of reporting bias (-1).

We included and graded the primary outcomes and main secondary outcome in the 'Summary of findings' table (abstinence from illicit opiates following detoxification, abstinence from illicit opiates following maintenance or substitution therapy; retention in treatment, participants with severe adverse events, participants with adverse events) for DHC compared to other medication.

Measures of treatment effect

We compared the outcomes of the experimental and control groups at follow-up appointments. For dichotomous data, we calculated risk ratios (RR) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs). For continuous data, we calculated the mean difference (MD), with 95% CIs. In the case of continuous data, we used the standardised mean difference (SMD) as the treatment measure, again with 95% CIs if the studies measured the outcomes with different tools (Deeks 2017). If neither of these measures could be calculated, the treatment effects were reported as by the author in the study article.

Unit of analysis issues

If included studies have more than one intervention group, simply entering each comparison in a meta-analysis may lead to the error of double counting (Deeks 2017) and we planned to either combine groups to allow single comparisons, set up separate analyses or perform subgroup analyses (if possible) and deselect the calculation of overall totals to count the participants that were randomised and not the number of treatment attempts provided.

Dealing with missing data

We contacted the original investigators of the included studies up to three times to request any missing data (missing studies, outcomes, summary data, individuals, and study-level characteristics). We needed to decide whether the data were missing at random (not related to the actual data) or not missing at random (related to the actual data). When study data were assumed to be missing at random, only the available data were analysed. For data that were not missing at random, this needed to be addressed by performing a sensitivity analysis or, if this was not possible, by replacing missing data with specified values (Deeks 2017). We used intentionto-treat analyses for these studies.

Assessment of heterogeneity

As we found and included in the review more than one study, we checked for heterogeneity across the studies. We used the Chi² and I² statistical tests to assess if observed differences in study results occurred by chance alone or if these differences were estimates beyond chance. If P values for the Chi² test were 0.10 or lower, and when the I² statistic value was above 50%, this indicated a potential problem with heterogeneity (Deeks 2017).



Assessment of reporting biases

We originally planned to inspect the risk of publication bias by examining the symmetry of funnel plots if at least 10 studies were included in the meta-analyses.

In addition, when there seemed to be selective outcome reporting, we contacted the authors of the relevant studies to request additional information.

Data synthesis

We first summarised the main findings of the included studies, then we decided whether studies were appropriate for metaanalysis, namely if there were two or more individual studies with comparable intervention methods and outcomes.

Given the heterogeneity of drug-using populations, as well as the fact that often intervention types are very different, we used the random-effects model for analysis. If there was more than one follow-up period for single studies, we performed separate analyses on the different follow-up periods. If possible, we grouped follow-up as short-term (one month or less), medium-term (two to six months) and long-term (seven months or more) follow-up. Where meta-analysis was not possible, we reported the findings narratively in the body of the review.

Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

We planned to conduct subgroup analyses for studies with low and unclear risk of bias and, if possible, for different ages, treatment history and mode of illicit opiate use for study participants.

Sensitivity analysis

We set out to explore the effects of risk of selection bias by conducting sensitivity analysis excluding studies at high risk of selection bias.

RESULTS

Description of studies

See Characteristics of included studies and Characteristics of excluded studies for detailed descriptions of each screened study.

Results of the search

We identified 130 potentially relevant articles through the search strategies (following the removal of duplicates). Based on the title and abstract, we excluded 110 studies, leaving 20 articles that we retrieved in full text so that we could conduct a more detailed evaluation. Of these, we excluded 15 and the remaining three trials (presented in five articles) were included in the review as they met all of the inclusion criteria (see Figure 1 for PRISMA flowchart (Moher 2009)).



Figure 1. Study flow diagram



Included studies

We included three studies (reported in five separate articles) that were published between 2004 and 2009 (Robertson 2006; Sheard 2009; Wright 2007). At study intake, this included a total of 385 opiate-using participants. All of the participants were opiate users, with two studies only including adults aged 18 years and older (Sheard 2009; Wright 2007), and the other including participants 15 years and older (up to 55 years of age; Robertson 2006). One of the studies (Sheard 2009), measured length of opiate use, with a mean length of 9.3 years opiate use (SD = 4.1). The other two studies included opiate dependency, with the mean opiate dependence score in one study being 10.2 (SD = 4.0), and 18 (30%) participants in the other study reported as severely dependent. The mean age of participants were 29.3 years (SD = 5.35) in Sheard 2009 and 29.5 years (SD = 6.2) in Wright 2007. Robertson 2006 did not provide participants' mean age.



Types of comparison

- DHC versus buprenorphine as detoxification: two studies, 150 opiate-using participants at study intake (Sheard 2009; Wright 2007)
- 2. DHC versus methadone as maintenance therapy: one study, 235 opiate-using participants at study intake (Robertson 2006)

Location

All of the studies were based in the UK. Two of the studies took place in general medical settings (Robertson 2006; Wright 2007), while one took place in a male prison, therefore only male participants were included (Sheard 2009).

Length, dosage and description of intervention

The two detoxification studies provided participants with a daily dosage of 30 mg for 15 (Wright 2007), and 20 days (Sheard 2009), respectively. The studies dispensed this in the form of an oral tablet preparation. The substitution therapy study prescribed a daily, supervised 30 mg at the beginning of the study, which was titrated to reach a stabilising dose (up to 60 mg), and after three weeks this was dispensed on an individual basis (Robertson 2006).

Oucomes measures

All three of the studies used urinalysis to measure abstinence from opiate use by the end of detoxification or substitution therapy. However, Wright 2007 did not define abstinence by urinalysis only at the three-month and six-month follow-up periods postdetoxification, as it was obtained during tracking of participants. Therefore in order to make a comparison of outcomes, abstinence at these time periods for both Wright 2007 and Sheard 2009 contain self-report as well as urinalysis measures for the abstinence outcome.

Secondary outcome measures included treatment retention, which was reported as participants leaving detoxification or early for two studies (Sheard 2009; Wright 2007), and not attending treatment for substitution therapy in the third study (Robertson 2006). Measures of drug overdose included number of overdoses recorded at post-detoxification, as well as a proxy measure of number of Accident and Emergency (A&E) visits, and number of doctor (general practitioner) visits during the detoxification and follow-up period for two of the studies (Sheard 2009; Wright 2007). The remaining study measured percentage differences over the follow-

up periods (Robertson 2006). Robertson 2006 measured physical health by the Maudley Addiction Profile (MAP) physical mean score. Two studies measured the number of participants who reported the inappropriate use of the allocated DHC at post-detoxification (Sheard 2009; Wright 2007), while Robertson 2006 provided the mean illicit opiate score. One study measured diversion by the percentage difference in selling drugs from baseline averaged over all of the follow-ups, while they measured the crime score by the mean difference in reported criminal activity from baseline averaged over all of the follow-up appointments (Robertson 2006).

Length of follow-up

The studies differed in terms of follow-up periods. Since two of the studies aimed to measure DHC's performance in detoxification, the first follow-up period was after the completion of detoxification services, with 150 participants, and then three and six months post detoxification, with 105 participants (Sheard 2009; Wright 2007). In Robertson 2006, where the aim was to measure DHC use as substitution therapy, and the primary outcome was treatment retention, follow-up was at 6, 12, 18, 24, 30 and 36 months respectively. A total of 181 participants across the studies completed the 12-month follow-up appointment.

Funding

Sheard 2009 and Wright 2007 received funding from the Leeds Primary Care Trusts Research Consortium Priorities and Needs Funding. Robertson 2006 received funding from the Chief Scientist Office of the Scottish Executive.

Excluded studies

We excluded 15 potentially eligible studies for which the full-text articles were obtained and read after assessing the abstracts. The reasons for exclusion are not mutually exclusive, therefore one study may have more than one reason for exclusion: 13 of the studies were not RCTs, four studies did not report DHC as the intervention provided, and one study did not include the primary outcome.

Risk of bias in included studies

Figure 2 provides a summary of the risk of bias for each study and in each area of potential bias. Figure 3 provides a summary of the 'Risk of bias' assessments for our primary outcomes across all three studies.







Figure 3. 'Risk of bias' graph: review authors' judgements about each 'Risk of bias' item presented as percentages across all included studies



Allocation

Generation of randomisation sequence

We deemed all studies at low risk of bias for sequence generation, with randomisation conducted by random block size (Robertson 2006; Sheard 2009; Wright 2007), stratified by sex by one of the studies (Robertson 2006). Two studies used Microsoft Excel RAND function to generate random block size (Sheard 2009; Wright 2007).

Concealment of allocation

Two of the studies used opaque envelopes to conceal allocation to study group, with an independent investigator confirming the order of opening the envelopes (Sheard 2009; Wright 2007). We therefore judged the risk of bias to be low. In the other study (Robertson 2006), the method of allocation concealment remained unclear despite attempts to contact the study author, and we deemed this study's risk of bias to be unclear.

Blinding

Performance Bias

We assessed all three studies to be at high risk of performance bias, as blinding did not take place consistently throughout the study. One study blinded personnel for a short period only, after which it was evident that participants and clinical staff members could distinguish between treatment groups, and blinding ceased (Robertson 2006). No blinding took place in the other studies (Sheard 2009; Wright 2007).

Detection bias

All staff members were unblinded in Robertson 2006. In the other two studies, where abstinence from illicit opiates was the primary outcome, we made the assumption that the staff in the laboratory where urinalysis was conducted was not aware of the treatment group to which the individual urine results belonged. However, since at follow-up some of the abstinence measures and other secondary outcome measures were self-reported (such as inappropriate use of prescribed medication), we assumed that the

outcome assessor was not blinded (Sheard 2009; Wright 2007). For this reason, we rated all three studies as having a high risk of detection bias.

Incomplete outcome data

The rates of attrition were low at six-month follow-up in one of the studies, and they also conducted an intention-to-treat analysis; we therefore judged Robertson 2006 to be at low risk of attrition bias. The other two studies, although they used intention-to-treat data analysis, had high levels of attrition, which were different across the groups (Sheard 2009; Wright 2007). We therefore judged them to be at high risk of attrition bias.

Selective reporting

The studies reported on primary and secondary outcomes that they had stated in their study protocols (Sheard 2009; Wright 2007), or referred to in the study methods (Robertson 2006), and we therefore deemed reporting bias to be low.

Other potential sources of bias

Sheard 2009 declared that a primary author was part of a national pharmaceutical board, but no obvious issues of other bias were evident in any of the studies and we therefore judged all studies to have a low risk of bias for this domain.

Effects of interventions

See: Summary of findings for the main comparison Dihydrocodeine compared to buprenorphine for detoxification in illicit-opiate-dependent individuals; Summary of findings 2 Dihydrocodeine compared to methadone for substitution therapy in illicit-opiate-dependent individuals

1. Comparison of DHC to buprenorphine

We decided to exclude one-month post detoxification, as this is a very short-term follow-up and only one study reported it (Sheard 2009).



Primary outcomes

Abstinence (urinalysis)

Two studies measured abstinence through clean urine results at the end of the detoxification period (Sheard 2009; Wright 2007), using intention-to-treat analysis (n = 150). There was no significant difference between those who received DHC and those who received buprenorphine (RR 0.42, 95% CI 0.11 to 1.57; P = 0.20; Analysis 1.1).

Abstinence (self-report and urinalysis)

Two studies compared the primary outcome at three and six months post-detoxification (Sheard 2009; Wright 2007), by combining self-report and urinalysis results, and still using an intention-to-treat analysis (n = 150). There was no significant difference at three months' follow-up (RR 0.59, 95% CI 0.26 to 1.31; P = 0.19; Analysis 1.2) and at six months' follow-up between those who received DHC and those who received buprenorphine (RR 0.59, 95% CI 0.25 to 1.39; P = 0.23; Analysis 1.3).

Serious adverse events

Neither of the two studies reported any deaths at three- or six-month post-detoxification follow-up periods in (Sheard 2009; Wright 2007).

Adverse events

No other adverse events were reported.

Secondary outcomes

Treatment retention

The two studies (Sheard 2009; Wright 2007), that measured treatment retention only measured this outcome post-detoxification (n = 150). The results of the meta-analysis indicate that there was no significant difference between the two groups (RR 1.29, 95% CI 0.99 to 1.68; P = 0.06; Analysis 1.4).

Overdose

Two studies measured this explicitly only at the end of the detoxification period, and reported zero instances (Sheard 2009; Wright 2007). However, they measured this by proxy by number of A&E visits at three- and six-month post-detoxification followups. At three months post-detoxification (n = 105) there was no difference between the number of visits to A&E services for the group of participants who received DHC and the group who received buprenorphine (RR 1.03, 95% CI 0.22 to 4.84; P = 0.97; Analysis 1.5). This difference was not significant at six months post-detoxification (n = 68) either (RR 0.58, 95% CI 0.06 to 5.66; P = 0.64) See Analysis 1.6. Another proxy measure of this was hospital attendance. At post-detoxification, there were zero reports of hospital visits in either of the studies. At three months postdetoxification, there was no significant difference in the number of hospital admissions between the DHC and buprenorphine groups (RR 1.06, 95% CI 0.20 to 5.55; P = 0.94; Analysis 1.7). There was also no significant difference in groups at six months post-detoxification (RR 1.39, 95% CI 0.23 to 8.37; P = 0.72; Analysis 1.8).

Diversion

Two studies (Sheard 2009; Wright 2007), measured this outcome at the end of the detoxification period, but it was not possible to conduct a meta-analysis for this outcome, as Wright 2007 reported

zero instances of participants using prescribed opiates for illegal use. The results of Sheard 2009 were as follows: the risk ratio was 2.59 (95% CI 0.29 to 23.32) but there was no significant difference between groups.

2. Comparison of DHC to methadone

Only one study (Robertson 2006), reported on the comparison of DHC to methadone as substitution therapy. It was therefore not possible to conduct a meta-analysis, and we report on the results from this study in the narrative below.

Primary outcome

Abstinence (self-report)

We are only reporting on the level of abstinence at 6-month follow up as results were only provided for this time period. One (out of 105) participant who received DHC and two (out of 107) participants who received methadone, had clean urine for these substances and therefore the rest were retained on substitution therapy). There was no significant difference in the illicit opiate score across all followup periods as the mean difference was -0.01 (95% CI -0.31 to 0.29).

Serious adverse events

One death was reported by methadone overdose in a patient who had recently undergone detoxification.

Adverse events

No other adverse events reported.

Secondary outcomes

Retention to treatment

Robertson 2006 measured treatment retention by calculating the RRs using an intention-to-treat approach. At six-month follow-up, the analysis indicated that staying in treatment did not differ significantly between the DHC and methadone group (RR 1.04, 95% CI 0.94 to 1.16). At 12-month (RR 0.99, 95% CI 0.84 to 1.18) and 18-month follow-up (RR 1.27, 0.97 to 1.16), intention-to-treat results indicated no significant differences, although those participants in the DHC group at 18-month follow-up may be more likely to stay in treatment.

Overdose

There was a non-significant 1.7% (95% Cl -2.8% to 6.1%) difference between the DHC and methadone group averaged over the follow-up periods.

Physical health

A non-significant mean difference in physical health score, as measured by the Maudsley Addiction Profile, across all available follow-up periods was found (MD –0.72, 95% CI –4.12 to 2.68).

Use of other substances of abuse

A non-significant -2.4% (95% CI -11.0% to 6.3%) difference between the DHC and methadone group averaged over the follow-up periods was found as reported by the study authors.

Engagement in crime

A non-significant 0.03 mean difference (95% Cl -0.29 to 0.36) across all follow-up appointments was found.

Diversion

A non-significant 0.9% (95% CI –0.5% to 2.3%) difference between the DHC and methadone group averaged over the follow-up periods was found as reported by the study authors.

Employment and education

The percentage difference between the DHC and methadone group averaged across all follow-up appointments as reported by the study authors was not significant (3.7%, 95% CI –5.8% to 13.1%).

DISCUSSION

Summary of main results

This systematic review identified three RCTs with a total of 385 participants in total that compared DHC to methadone or buprenorphine respectively. There were different levels of bias in the three studies, but all were of low quality. When comparing DHC to buprenorphine in opiate detoxification, we cannot be certain of the difference in the following outcomes: adhering to treatment and overdose measured by proxy by attending A&E at three- and six-month post-detoxification follow-up periods. There were zero reports of overdose directly mentioned and zero participant deaths recorded in both Sheard 2009 and Wright 2007. Zero instances of illicit opiate use were reported in Wright 2007, with findings in Sheard 2009 indicating no differences between the groups. If better quality studies are conducted in the future, DHC may possibly be a viable alternative treatment option in opiate detoxification in addition to traditional options as it may perform just as well as buprenorphine in reducing opiate use.

When comparing DHC to methadone in opiate substitution, we included one study, with no meta-analysis possible (Robertson 2006). This study did not show any difference in illicit opiate use at long-term follow-up (6, 12, 18 months) between participants receiving DHC and those receiving methadone in shared care services. There was also no difference for retention in treatment, reported overdose, physical health score, engagement in crime, selling of drugs, employment and education. Again quality of evidence was low.

Overall completeness and applicability of evidence

The small number of included studies (n = 3) and participants across the range of settings is too small to permit definite conclusions around use of DHC in either opiate detoxification, or as substitution treatment modality. Evidence is compromised by high attrition, over-representation of male participants, varied doses of DHC and length of interventions, and the detoxification versus substitution approach. Because all of the studies were conducted in the UK, the findings are limited to this high-income setting. The application of this evidence in low- to middle-income countries may be limited.

Although the review focused on illicit opiate use as an outcome, our search strategy was not limited to only substances that are illegal. The findings of all three studies only included illicit opiate use, but there is no reason why the evidence presented in this review would not be pertinent to other problem opioid use. This is especially relevant due to the potential to use DHC substitution therapy in countries where opioids are widespread and there is a call to find innovative medications to treat opioid addiction (Volkow 2017). A future review could perhaps expand the focus to accommodate both illicit and legal opioid disorders.

Future studies may also need to include the severity of opioid use disorder, in order to ascertain DHC's use in treating mild, medium and severe opioid use disorders. Unfortunately this was not clarified in the studies included in the current review.

Quality of the evidence

We rated all three studies as having high rates of performance, attrition and detection bias and we judged their evidence overall to be of low quality due to risk of bias and imprecision of the estimates, resulting in greater uncertainty in the overall results.

Potential biases in the review process

We believe that we found and included all of the relevant studies that have compared DHC to other pharmaceutical opioids for detoxification and substitution therapy due to the often updated extensive searches on a wide range of databases. In addition, while it was not possible to assess the risk of publication bias formally by inspecting a funnel plot, the review authors included trials registers and contacted study authors for additional DHC studies.

We also tried to obtain the most accurate study data by contacting authors pf primary studies; however, in some cases they did not reply or provide the requested information.

Agreements and disagreements with other studies or reviews

We did not find any other systematic reviews on this topic. While most existing research looks at codeine as a substance with potential misuse, we did find a few studies that used DHC for treatment.

One study reports that DHC is more cost effective with a better safety and toxicity profile than methadone (Wright 2007), when used in primary care opiate detoxification. Additional literature reports that DHC is characterised by its short-acting properties, requiring frequent dosing or administration, and the potential for patients oscillating between sedation and withdrawal during detoxification (Backmund 2001; Banbery 2000). This requires a vigilant approach on the part of the prescriber (ideally experienced) in terms of reduced periods of relative withdrawal between doses (Bao 2009; Mitchell 2003; Wright 2007). Reduced opportunity for doctor-patient contact in DHC substitution (Backmund 2001), may also confound results, along with concerns for DHC diversion (Backmund 2001; Hickman 2007; Reith 2005; Wazaify 2005; Zamaprutti 2010).

Despite a comprehensive search of published and unpublished literature, we found only three studies, all based in the UK. The types of comparison were DHC versus buprenorphine in two detoxification studies with 150 opiate-using participants at intake (Sheard 2009; Wright 2007), and DHC versus methadone substitution with 235 opiate-using participants at study intake (Robertson 2006). Study settings varied, with two taking place in general medical settings (Robertson 2006; Wright 2007), and the other in a male prison (Sheard 2009).

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

The results indicated that there may be no difference of effect of dihydrocodeine (DHC) compared to buprenorphine for

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews



detoxification or compared to methadone for maintenance of opiate use. Because of the low-quality evidence, it is premature to make any conclusive statements about the efficacy of DHC. However, the evidence base, although dated, should be made known to service providers who could use this information cautiously to consider and assess treatment options.

Implications for research

Further clinical investigation of DHC detoxification with specific groups of stabilised and non-stabilised individuals dependent on opiates and in varied settings is warranted. Further research is necessary to trial DHC with patients with less severe opiate disorder, with primary care substitution prescribing to achieve stabilisation in the community, and with a long follow-up period measuring a range of primary (abstinence) outcomes in clearly differentiated methods (self-report versus urinalysis) and secondary outcomes pertaining to retention, medical care visits, overdose, engagement in education and employment, and general health. Studies that included longer follow-up periods, such as 12 months or more (only one included study, Robertson 2006, reported a longer follow-up period), would also indicate if any changes in illicit opiate use is sustained over time. A recommendation is for the further investigation of DHC for detoxification or substitution therapy in low- to middle-income countries, through high-quality randomised controlled trials.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The review authors would like to thank Zuzana Mitrova of Cochrane Drugs and Alcohol (Rome, Italy) for all of her assistance with multiple search strategies and other administrative support for this review, and Linda Gowing and Franco De Crescenzo for peerreviewing the manuscript.



REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

Robertson 2006 {published data only}

Robertson RJ, Raab GM, Bruce M, McKenzie JS, Storkey HR, Salter A. Addressing the efficacy of dihydrocodeine versus methadone as an alternative maintenance treatment for opiate dependence: a randomized controlled trial. *Addiction* 2006;**101**(12):1752-9.

Sheard 2009 {published data only}

Sheard L, Adams CE, Wright NM, El-Sayeh H, Dalton R, Tompkins CN. The Leeds Evaluation of Efficacy of Detoxification Study (LEEDS) prisons project pilot study: protocol for a randomised controlled trial comparing dihydrocodeine and buprenorphine for opiate detoxification. *Trials* 2007;**8**(1):1-5.

* Sheard L, Wright NM, El-Sayeh HG, Adams CA, Li R,

Tompkins CN. The Leeds Evaluation of Efficacy of Detoxification Study (LEEDS) prisons project: a randomised controlled trial comparing dihydrocodeine and buprenorphine for opiate detoxification. *Substance Abuse Treatment, Prevention, and Policy* 2009;**4**(1):1-11. [DOI: 10.1186/1747-597X-4-1]

Wright 2007 {published data only}

Oldham NS, Wright NM, Adams CE, Sheard L, Tompkins CN. The Leeds Evaluation of Efficacy of Detoxification Study (LEEDS) project: an open-label pragmatic randomised control trial comparing the efficacy of differing therapeutic agents for primary care detoxification from either street heroin or methadone. BMC Family Practice 2004; Vol. 5, issue 9. [DOI: 10.1186/1471-2296-5-9]

* Wright NM, Sheard L, Tompkins CN, Adams CE, Allgar VL, Oldham NS. Buprenorphine versus dihydrocodeine for opiate detoxification in primary care: a randomised controlled trial. BMC Family Practice 2007; Vol. 8, issue 3. [DOI: 10.1186/1471-2296-8-3]

References to studies excluded from this review

Backmund 2001 {*published data only*}

Backmund M, Meyer K, Eichenlaub D, Schütz CG. Predictors for completing an inpatient detoxification program among intravenous heroin users, methadone substituted and codeine substituted patients. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence* 2001;**64**(2):173-80.

Banbery 2000 {published data only}

Banbery J, Wolff K, Raistrick D. A useful tool in the detoxification of methadone-maintained patients. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment* 1999;**19**(3):301-5.

Bell 2007 {published data only}

Bell J, Zador D. Dihydrocodeine as effective as methadone for maintenance of treatment for opiate dependence?. Evidencebased Mental Health Vol. 10, issue 3:88.

Carnwath 2002 {published data only}

Carnwath T, Marrill J. Dose equivalents in opioid substitution treatment. *International Journal of Drug Policy* 2002;**13**(6):445-7.

Day 2003 {published data only}

Day E, Fisher K, Watson J, Al-Gommer O, McCormick T. The role of detoxification using methadone reduction in a drug treatment service. *Journal of Substance Abuse* 2003;**8**(4):252-9.

Friessem 1991 {published data only}

Friessem DH, Täschner KL. Codeine and dihydrocodeine as substitute and alternative drugs. *Fortschritte der Neurologie-Psychiatrie* 1991;**59**(5):164-9.

Hall 2007 {published data only}

Hall WD, Mattick PR. Clinical update: codeine maintenance in opioid dependence. *Lancet* 2007;**370**:550-2. [DOI: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(07)61273-2]

Krausz 1995 {published data only}

Krausz M, Degkwitz P, Wernecke A, Verthein U, Chorzelski G, Behrendt K. Drug substitution treatment of heroin dependent patients with codeine preparations-treatment effects from the viewpoint of the physicians and patients. *Psychiatrische Praxis* 1995;**22**(5):179-85.

Krausz 1998 {published data only}

Krausz M, Verthein U, Degkwitz P, Haasen C, Raschke P. Maintenance treatment of opiate addicts in Germany with medications containing codeine: results of a follow-up study. *Addiction* 1998;**93**(8):1161-7.

Pearson 2000 {published data only}

Pearson R, Robertson G, Gibb R. The identification and treatment of opiate users in police custody. *Medicine, Science and the Law* 2000;**40**(4):305-12.

Seymour 2001 {published data only}

Seymour A, Black M, Oliver JS, Jay J. Dihydrocodeine – drug of use or misuse?. *British Journal of General Practice* 2001;**51**(446):404-5.

Swadi 1990 {published data only}

Swadi H, Wells B, Power R. Misuse of dihydrocodeine tartrate (DF 118) among opiate addicts. *BMJ* 1990;**300**(6735):1313.

Ulmer 2007 {published data only}

Ulmer A, Mueller M, Frietsch B. Dihydrocodeine treatment of alcohol addicts with previous opiate addiction-case reports. *Heroin Addiction and Related Clinical Problems* 2007;**9**(2):55-64.

Ulmer 2012 {published data only}

Ulmer A, Mueller M, Frietsch B. Dihydrocodeine/agonists for alcohol dependents. *Frontiers in Psychiatry* 2012;**3**:1-7. [DOI: 10.3389/fpsyt.2012.00021]

Zamparutti 2010 {published data only}

Zamparutti G, Schifano F, Corkery JM, Oyefeso A, Ghodse AH. Deaths of opiate/opioid misusers involving dihydrocodeine,



UK, 1997–2007. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 2010;**72**(2):330-7.

Additional references

Amato 2005

Amato L, Davolia M, Peruccia CA, Ferria M, Faggiano F, Mattick RP. An overview of systematic reviews of the effectiveness of opiate maintenance therapies: available evidence to inform clinical practice and research. *Journal* of Substance Abuse Treatment 2005;**28**(4):321-9. [DOI: dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2005.02.007]

Amato 2011

Amato L, Minozzi S, Davoli M, Vecchi S. Psychosocial combined with agonist maintenance treatments versus agonist maintenance treatments alone for treatment of opioid dependence. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2011, Issue 10. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004147.pub4]

Amato 2013

Amato L, Davoli M, Minozzi S, Ferroni E, Ali R, Ferri M. Methadone at tapered doses for the management of opioid withdrawal. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2013, Issue 2. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003409.pub4]

APA 2013

American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. Fifth Edition. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association, 2013.

Arora 2013

Arora A, Williams K. Problem based review: the patient taking methadone. *Acute Medicine* 2013;**12**(1):51-4.

Auriacombe 2004

Auriacombe M, Fatséas M, Dubernet J, Daulouède JP, Tignol J. French field experience with buprenorphine. *American Journal on Addictions* 2004;**13**:S17-S28. [DOI: dx.doi.org/10.1080/10550490440780]

Bao 2009

Bao Y, Liu Z, Epstein DH, Du C, Shi J, Lu L. A meta-analysis of retention in methadone maintenance by dose and dosing strategy. *American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse* 2009;**35**(1):28-33. [DOI: 10.1080/00952990802342899]

Connock 2007

Connock M, Juarez Garcia A, Jowett S, Frew E, Liu Z, Taylor RJ, et al. Methadone and buprenorphine for the management of opioid dependence: a systematic review and economic evaluation. *Health Technology Assessment* 2007;**11**(9):1-171. [DOI: 10.3310/hta11090]

Cook 2018

Cook C, Davies C. The lost decade: neglect for harm reduction funding and the health crisis among people who use drugs. London: Harm Reduction International, 2018.

Darke 2002

Darke S, Ross J. Suicide among heroin users: rates, risk factors and methods. *Addiction* 2002;**97**(11):1384-94. [DOI: 10.1046/ j.1360-0443.2002.00214.x]

Darke 2012

Darke S, Campbell G, Popple G. Self-harm and attempted suicide among therapeutic community admissions. *Drug and Alcohol Review* 2012;**31**(4):523-8. [DOI: 10.1111/j.1465-3362.2011.00344.x]

Davoli 2015

Davoli M, Amato L, Clark N, Farrell M, Hickman M, Hill S, et al. The role of Cochrane Reviews in informing international guidelines: a case study of using the Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development and Evaluation system to develop World Health Organization guidelines for the psychosocially assisted pharmacological treatment of opioid dependence. *Addiction* 2015;**110**(6):891-8. [DOI: 10.1111/ add.12788.]

Deeks 2017

Deeks JJ, Higgins JP, Altman DG (editors) on behalf ofthe Cochrane Statistical Methods Group. Chapter 9: Analysing data and undertaking meta-analyses. In: Higgins JPT, Churchill R, Chandler J, Cumpston MS (editors), Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 5.2.0 (updated June 2017), Cochrane, 2017. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.

Degenhardt 2011

Degenhardt L, Bucello C, Mathers B, Briegleb C, Ali H, Hickman M, et al. Mortality among regular or dependent users of heroin and other opioids: a systematic review and metaanalysis of cohort studies. *Addiction* 2011;**106**(1):32-51. [DOI: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2010.03140.x]

Degenhardt 2014

Degenhardt L, Charlson F, Mathers B, Hall WD, Flaxman AD, Johns N, et al. The global epidemiology and burden of opioid dependence: results from the global burden of disease 2010 study. *Addiction* 2014;**109**(9):1320-33. [DOI: 10.1111/add.12551]

Ferri 2011

Ferri M, Davoli M, Perucci CA. Heroin maintenance for chronic heroin-dependent individuals. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2011, Issue 12. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003410.pub4]

Ferri 2013

Ferri M, Minozzi AB, Amato L. Slow-release oral morphine as maintenance therapy for opioid dependence. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2013, Issue 6. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD009879.pub2]

Finnegan 1975

Finnegan L, Connaughton J, Kron R, Emich J. Neonatal abstinence syndrome: assessment and management. *Journal of Addictive Diseases* 1975;**2**(1-2):141-58. [DOI: 10.1186/1940-0640-9-19]

Gomes 2018

Gomes T, Tadrous M, Mamdani MM, Paterson JM, Juurlink DN. The burden of opioid-related mortality in the United States. *JAMA Network Open* 2018;**1**(2):e180217.

Gowing 2011

Gowing L, Farrell MF, Bornemann R, Sullivan LE, Ali R. Oral substitution treatment of injecting opioid users for prevention of HIV infection. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2011, Issue 8. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004145.pub4]

Gowing 2016

Gowing L, Farrell MF, Ali R, White JM. Alpha2-adrenergic agonists for the management of opioid withdrawal. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2016, Issue 5. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002024.pub5]

Gowing 2017a

Gowing L, Ali R, White JM. Buprenorphine for managing opioid withdrawal. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2017, Issue 2. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002025.pub5]

Gowing 2017b

Gowing L, Ali R, White JM. Opioid antagonists with minimal sedation for opioid withdrawal. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2017, Issue 5. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002021.pub4]

GRADE 2004

GRADE working group. Grading quality of evidence and strength of recommendations. *BMJ* 2004;**328**(7454):1490-4. [DOI: 10.1136/bmj.328.7454.1490]

Guyatt 2008

Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Vist GE, Kunz R, Falck-Ytter Y, Alonso-Coello P, et al. GRADE: an emerging consensus on rating quality of evidence and strength of recommendations. *BMJ* 2008;**336**(7560):924-6. [DOI: 10.1136/bmj.39489.470347.AD]

Guyatt 2011

Guyatt G, Oxman AD, Akl EA, Kunz R, Vist G, Brozek J, et al. GRADE guidelines 1. Introduction-GRADE evidence profiles and summary of findings tables. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2011;**64**(4):383–94. [DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.jclinepi.2010.04.026]

Hellard 2009

Hellard M, Sacks-Davis R, Gold J. Hepatitis C treatment for injection drug users: a review of the available evidence. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 2009;**49**(4):561-73. [DOI: 10.1086/600304]

Hickman 2007

Hickman M, Carrivick S, Paterson S, Hunt N, Zador D, Cusick L, Henry J. London audit of drug-related overdose deaths: characteristics and typology, and implications for prevention and monitoring. *Addiction* 2007;**102**:317–23.

Higgins 2017

Higgins JP, Altman DG, Sterne JA (editors). Chapter 8: Assessing risk of bias in included studies. In: Higgins JPT, Churchill R, Chandler J, Cumpston MS (editors), Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 5.2.0 (updated June 2017), Cochrane, 2017. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.

Jansson 2009

Jansson LM, Velez, MD, Harrow C. The opioid exposed newborn: assessment and pharmacologic management. *Journal of Opioid Management* 2009;**5**(1):47-55.

Kermode 2011

Kermode M, Crofts N, Suresh Kumar M, Dorabjee J. Opioid substitution therapy in resource-poor settings. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 2011;**89**:243. [DOI: 10.2471/ BLT.11.086850]

Klepstad 2005

Klepstad P, Kaasa S, Cherny N, Hanks G, de Conno FR. Pain and pain treatments in European palliative care units. A cross sectional survey from the European Association for Palliative Care Research Network. *Palliative Medicine* 2005;**19**(6):477–84. [DOI: 10.1191/0269216305pm1054oa]

Lawrinson 2008

Lawrinson P, Ali R, Buavirat A, Chiamwongpaet S, Dvoryak S, Habrat B, et al. Key findings from the WHO collaborative study on substitution therapy for opioid dependence and HIV/AIDS. *Addiction* 2008;**103**:1484-92. [DOI: 10.1111/ j.1360-0443.2008.02249.x.]

Lefebvre 2011

Lefebvre C, Manheimer E, Glanville J. Chapter 6: Searching for studies. In: Higgins JPT, Green S (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from www.handbook.cochrane.org.

Leppert 2010

Leppert W. Dihydrocodeine as an opioid analgesic for the treatment of moderate to severe chronic pain. *Current Drug Metabolism* 2010;**11**(6):494-506. [DOI: 10.2174/138920010791636211]

Luty 2004

Luty J. Treatment preferences of opiate-dependent patients. *Psychiatric Bulletin* 2004;**28**(2):47-50. [DOI: 10.1192/pb.28.2.47]

Maas 2013

Maas J, Barton G, Maskrey V, Pinto H, Holland R. Economic evaluation: a comparison of methadone versus buprenorphine for opiate substitution treatment. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence* 2013;**133**(2):494-501. [DOI: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2013.07.018]

MacLeod 1998

MacLeod J, Whittaker A, Robertson R. Changes in opiate treatment during attendance at a community drug service – findings from a clinical audit. *Drug and Alcohol Review* 1998;**17**(1):19-25. [DOI: 10.1080/09595239800187561]



Malek 2012

Malek A. Effects of prenatal opiates exposure on human pregnancy and breastfeeding. *Pharmaceutica Analytica Acta* 2012;**3**(9):1000192. [DOI: 10.4172/2153‐2435.1000192]

Mathers 2010

Mathers BM, Degenhardt L, Ali H, Wiessing L, Hickman M, Mattick RP, et al. HIV prevention, treatment, and care services for people who inject drugs: a systematic review of global, regional, and national coverage. *Lancet* 2010;**375**(9719):1014– 28. [DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60232-2]

Mattick 2009

Mattick RP, Breen C, Kimber J, Davoli M. Methadone maintenance therapy versus no opioid replacement therapy for opioid dependence. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2009, Issue 3. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002209.pub2]

Mattick 2014

Mattick RP, Breen C, Kimber J, Davoli M. Buprenorphine maintenance versus placebo or methadone maintenance for opioid dependence. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2014, Issue 2. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002207.pub4]

Minozzi 2013

Minozzi S, Amato L, Bellisario C, Ferrri M, Davoli M. Maintenance agonist treatments for opiate-dependent pregnant women. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2013, Issue 12. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD006318.pub3]

Minozzi 2014

Minozzi S, Amato L, Bellisario C, Davoli M. Maintenance treatments for opiate-dependent adolescents. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2014, Issue 6. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD007210.pub3]

Mitchell 2003

Mitchell TB, White JM, Somogyi AA, Bochner F. Comparative pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics of methadone and slow release oral morphine for maintenance treatment of opioid dependence. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence* 2003;**72**(1):85–94. [DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ S0376-8716(03)00190-X]

Moher 2009

Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, The PRISMA Group (2009). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA Statement. *PLoS Medicine* 6;**7**:e1000097. [DOI: 10.1371/journal.pmed1000097]

Moore 2000

Moore RA, Edwards J, Derry S, McQuay HJ. Single dose oral dihydrocodeine for acute postoperative pain. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2000, Issue 2. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002760]

NICE 2007

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Drug misuse – opioid detoxification: NICE clinical guidelines. www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg52/evidence/drug-misuse-opioid-detoxification-full-guideline-196515037 October 2015 (date accessed); Vol. 52.

OHRP 2007

Office for Human Research Protections. Guidance on reviewing and reporting unanticipated problems involving risks to subjects or others and adverse events. www.hhs.gov/ohrp/ regulations-and-policy/guidance/reviewing-unanticipatedproblems/index.html November 2015 (date accessed). [http:// www.hhs.gov/ohrp/policy/advevntguid.html]

Oldham 2004

Oldham N, Wright N, Adams C, Sheard L, Tompkins CN. The Leeds Evaluation of Efficacy of Detoxification Study (LEEDS) Project: an open label pragmatic randomised control trial comparing the efficacy of differing therapeutic agents for primary care detoxification from either street heroin or methadone. *BMC Family Practice* 2004;**5**:1-7. [DOI: 10.1186/1471-2296-5-9]

Patrick 2012

Patrick SW, Schumacher RE, Benneyworth BD, Krans EE, McAllister JM, Davis MM. Neonatal abstinence syndrome and associated health care expenditures: United States, 2000-2009. *JAMA* 2012;**307**(18):1934-40. [DOI: 10.1001/jama.2012.3951]

Reith 2005

Reith D, Fountain J, Tilyard M. Opioid poisoning deaths in New Zealand (2001–2002). *New Zealand Medical Journal* 2005;**118**(1209):U1293.

Review Manager 2014 [Computer program]

Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration. Review Manager 5 (RevMan 5). Version 5.3. Copenhagen: Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2014.

Riksheim 2014

Riksheim M, Gossop M, Clausen T. From methadone to buprenorphine: changes during a 10 year period within a national opioid maintenance treatment programme. *Journal* of Substance Abuse Treatment 2014;**46**(3):291–4. [DOI: 10.1016/ j.jsat.2013.10.006]

Robertson 1990

Robertson R, Witcomb J, Roberts J, Egan J. Misuse of dihydrocodeine tartrate (DF 118) among opiate addicts. *BMJ* 1990;**301**:119. [DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmj.300.6735.1313]

Sees 2000

Sees KL, Delucchi KL, Masson C, Rosen A, Clark HW, Robillard H, et al. Methadone maintenance vs 180-day psychosocially enriched detoxification for treatment of opioid dependence: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* 2000;**283**(10):1303-10. [DOI: 10.1001/jama.283.10.1303]

Seivewright 2000

Seivewright N. Community Treatment of Drug Misuse: More than Methadone. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2000:243.

Soyka 2015

Soyka M. New developments in the management of opioid dependence: focus on sublingual buprenorphine-naloxone.



Substance Abuse Rehabilitation 2015;6:1-14. [DOI: 10.2147/ SAR.S45585]

Strang 2005

Strang J, Sheridan J, Hunt C, Kerr B, Gerada C, Pringle M. The prescribing of methadone and other opioids to addicts: national survey of GPs in England and Wales. *British Journal of General Practice* 2005;**55**(515):444-51.

Strike 2013

Strike C, Millson M, Hopkins S, Smith C. What is low threshold methadone maintenance treatment?. *International Journal of Drug Policy* 2013;**24**(6):e51-e56. [DOI: 10.1016/ j.drugpo.2013.05.005]

Tompkins 2007

Tompkins C, Neale J, Sheard L, Wright N. Experiences of prison among injecting drug users in England: a qualitative study. *International Journal of Prisoner Health* 2007;**3**(3):189-203. [DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17449200701520123]

Ulmer 1997

Ulmer A. Die Dihydrocodeine-Substitution [Dihydrocodeine Maintenance Treatment]. Stuttgart: Thieme, 1997.

UNODC 2013

UNODC/WHO. Opioid overdose: preventing and reducing opioid overdose mortality. Discussion Paper. New York: United Nations, 2013.

UNODC 2017

United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. World Drug Report 2017. Vol. **Sales No. E.17.XI.6**, Vienna: United Nations, 2017.

UNODC WHO 2013

UNODC/WHO. Opioid overdose: preventing and reducing opioid overdose mortality. Contribution of the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime and the World Health Organization to improving responses by Member States to the increasing problem of opioid overdose deaths. Discussion Paper 2013.

Vlahov 2004

Vlahov D, Wang CL, Galai N, Bareta J, Mehta SH, Strathdee SA, et al. Mortality risk among new onset injection drug users. *Addiction* 2004;**99**(8):946-54. [DOI: 10.1111/ j.1360-0443.2004.00780.x]

Volkow 2017

Volkow ND, Collins FS. The role of science in addressing the opioid crisis. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2017;**337**(4):391-4.

Wazaify 2005

Wazaify M, Shields E, Hughes CM, McElnay JC. Societal perspectives on over-the-counter (OTC) medicines. *Family Practice* 2005;**22**(2):170-6.

Webb 2001

Webb JA, Rostami-Hodjegan A, Abdul-Manap R, Hofmann U, Mikus G, Kamali F. Contribution of dihydrocodeine and dihydromorphine to analgesia following dihydrocodeine administration in man: a PK–PD modelling analysis. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 2001;**52**(1):35-43. [DOI: 10.1046/j.0306-5251.2001.01414.x]

Weber 2009

Weber R, Huber M, Rickenbach M, Furrer H, Elzi L, Hirschel B, et al. Uptake and virological response to antiretroviral therapy among HIV infected former and current injecting drug users and persons in an opiate substitution treatment program: the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. *HIV Medicine* 2009;**10**:407-16. [DOI: 10.1111/j.1468-1293.2009.00701.x.]

WHO 2009

World Health Organization. Guidelines for the Psychosocially Assisted Pharmacological Treatment of Opioid Dependence. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2009. [ISBN: 978 92 4 154754 3]

Zamaprutti 2010

Zamparutti G, Schifano F, Corkery JM, Oyefeso A, Ghodse H. Deaths of opiate/opioid misusers involving dihydrocodeine, UK, 1997–2007. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 2010;**72**(2):330-7. [DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2125.2011.03908.x]

References to other published versions of this review

Carney 2016

Carney T, Van Hout MC, Norman I, Dada S, Parry CD. Dihydrocodeine for detoxification and maintenance treatment in individuals with opiate use disorders. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2016, Issue 6. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD012254]

* Indicates the major publication for the study

CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

Characteristics of included studies [ordered by study ID]

Robertson 2006

RODELLSOIT 2006	
Methods	RCT
Participants	Number of participants: 235
	City and country: Lothian (including Edinburgh) Scotland

Robertson 2006 (Continued)	
	Setting: community drug problem service and GP practices
	Gender: 71.5% male, 28.5% female
	Age range: 16-55 (mean or median age not available)
	Inclusion criteria: opiate users, adults, codeine/DHC provided
	Exclusion criteria: pregnant; have psychiatric morbidity
	Opiate dependency score (mean, SD): 10.2 (4.0)
Interventions	Intervention: DHC tablets as substitution therapy (n = 116) Dosage: 30 mg or 60 mg
	Control: methadone dispensed at 2.5 mg, supervised or unsupervised (n = 119)
	Length of intervention: 27 days induction phase, treatment up to 42 months
Outcomes	Follow up at 6, 12, 18, 24, 30, 36 months
	Measures: MAP, urine toxicology
	Primary outcomes
	1. Retention in treatment
	Secondary outcomes
	1. Overdoses and adverse events
	2. Total illicit opiate use
	3. Reported crime
	4. Physical health
	5. Mental health
	6. Injection drug use
	7. Selling drugs
	8. Being in education or work

Notes

Funding: Chief Scientist Office of the Scottish Executive, grant number K/opr/2/2d3999

Conflict of interest: Dr Robertson is on an occasional advisory committee at the company that provided the DHC for the study: NAPP Pharmaceuticals, Cambridge, UK.

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Random block size, stratified by sex
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	No information provided or available on allocation concealment
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Initially staff entered participants without being aware of their allocated inter- ventions, but after enrolment of 29 participants, personnel was not blinded af- ter evidence that both participants and clinical staff were able to distinguish between treatments.
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias)	High risk	Blinding of outcome assessors for any of the outcomes was not done.



Robertson 2006 (Continued)

Abstinence measured by urinalysis		
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) Abstinence by urinalysis	Low risk	ITT analysis conducted and low attrition at 6 months' follow-up period (inter- vention group: 3/108; control group: 3/110)
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Low risk	Primary outcome of treatment retention reported on, as well as secondary outcomes according to National Outcomes Treatment Report mentioned in the methods
Other bias	Low risk	No obvious other bias

Sheard 2009

Methods	RCT
Participants	Number of participants: 90
	City and country: Leeds, England
	Setting: Her Majesty's Prison, Leeds
	Gender: male 100%
	Age (mean, SD): 29.3 (5.35)
	Inclusion criteria: opiate users, adults, codeine/DHC provided
	Exclusion criteria: < 18 and > 65 years; contra-indication to DHC or buprenorphine; had been previously randomised into trial; co-existing medical conditions; current detox from other illicit drugs
	Length of opiate use (mean, SD): 9.3 (4.1) years
Interventions	Intervention: DHC dispensed as oral tablet preparation for detox (n = 48)
	Dosage: 30 mg
	Control: buprenorphine dispensed under daily supervision for 20 days (n = 42)
	Length of intervention: 20 days
Outcomes	Follow-up end of detox and at 1, 3, 6 months
	Measures: medical records, urine toxicology
	Primary outcomes
	1. Abstinence from illlicit opiates
	Secondary outcomes
	 SAEs and AEs Leaving the study early Inappropriate use of prescribed medication Service utilisation
Notes	Funding: Leeds Primary Care Trusts Research Consortium Priorities and Needs Funding
	Conflict of interest: none



Sheard 2009 (Continued)

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Random block size generated using Microsoft Excel RAND function
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Opaque envelopes used so that intervention allocations not seen in advance
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	All trial staff were aware of the condition that participants were in.
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) Abstinence measured by urinalysis	High risk	Outcome assessor blinded in urinalysis: as urinalysis is primary outcome, as- sumption made that lab technician was not aware of which group the individ- ual results belonged to. However at follow-up appointments, abstinence also included self-reporting of opiates where we assumed that the assessor was not blinded. We made the same assumption for the secondary outcomes.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) Abstinence by urinalysis	High risk	Although similar in each arm and ITT analysis conducted, there was a high at- trition rate (DHC group post-detox: 31/48, buprenorphine post-detox: 32/42; DHC group 1 month post-detox: 2/5, buprenorphine 1 month post-detox: 4/10; DHC 3 month post-detox: 1/4, buprenorphine 6 months post-detox: 2/8; DHC 3 months post-detox: 1/4, buprenorphine 6 months post-detox: 1/3)
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Low risk	All outcomes reported on according to protocol ISRCTN07752728
Other bias	Low risk	No obvious other bias although primary author declared being on NAPP Phar- maceutical Board

Wright 2007

Vright 2007	
Methods	RCT
Participants	Number of participants: 60
	City and country: Leeds, England
	Setting: general practice
	Gender: male 70%, female 30%
	Age (mean, SD): 29.5 (6.2)
	Inclusion criteria: opiate users, adults, codeine/DHC provided
	Exclusion criteria: < 18 years; contra-indication to DHC or buprenorphine; had been previously ran- domised into trial
	Number (%) severely dependent: 18 (30%)
Interventions	Intervention: DHC dispensed as oral tablet preparation for detox (unsupervised; n =32)
	Dosage: 30 mg



Wright 2007	(Continued)

Control: buprenorphine dispensed under daily supervision for 15 days (n = 28)

	Length of intervention: 15 days
Outcomes	Follow-up end of detox and at 3, 6 months
	Measures: medical records, urine toxicology
	Primary
	1. Abstinence from illlicit opiates
	Secondary
	1. 1. SAEs and AEs
	2. Inappropriate use of prescribed medication
	3. Overdose
	4. Service utilisation (admission to hospital or A&E and number of GP/drug worker visits during the detox period)
Notes	Funding: Leeds Primary Care Trusts Research Consortium Priorities and Needs Funding

Conflict of interest: none

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Random block size, stratified by practice using Microsoft Excel RAND function
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Opaque, consecutively sealed envelopes, independent investigator confirmed order of opening of envelopes
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Neither staff nor participants were blinded to the condition once the envelopes had been opened
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) Abstinence measured by urinalysis	High risk	Outcome assessor blinded. As urinalysis is primary outcome, we assumed that lab technician was not aware of which group the individual results belonged to. The risk increased at follow-up appointments where abstinence also in- cluded self-reporting of opiates where we assumed that the assessor was not blinded. We also assumed that the assessor was not blinded for other sec- ondary outcomes.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) Abstinence by urinalysis	High risk	High, differential rates of attrition, with only very small numbers completing detox (DHC group: 1/32 provided final urine sample at detox, buprenorphine group: 6/28 provided final urine sample at detox)
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Low risk	All outcomes reported on compared with protocol ISRCTN07752728
Other bias	Low risk	No obvious evidence of other biases

A&E: Accident and Emergency Department; AE: adverse event; detox: detoxification; DHC: dihydrocodeine; GP: general practitioner; ITT: intention-to-treat; MAP: Maudsley Addiction Profile; RCT: randomised controlled trial; SAE: serious adverse event; SD: standard deviation

Dihydrocodeine for detoxification and maintenance treatment in individuals with opiate use disorders (Review) Copyright © 2020 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

Study	Reason for exclusion
Backmund 2001	Not RCT
Banbery 2000	Not RCT
Bell 2007	Commentary on RCT
Carnwath 2002	Editorial
Day 2003	DHC not primary drug dispensed to participants for detox
Friessem 1991	Not RCT (epidemiology and case studies)
Hall 2007	Not RCT, DHC not primary drug dispensed to participants for detox
Krausz 1995	Not RCT
Krausz 1998	Not RCT
Pearson 2000	Not RCT
Seymour 2001	Commentary on retrospective study
Swadi 1990	Not RCT
Ulmer 2007	DHC not used for detox from other opiates, not RCT
Ulmer 2012	DHC not used for detox from other opiates, not RCT
Zamparutti 2010	Primary outcomes not measured, and not RCT

detox: detoxification; DHC: dihydrocodeine; RCT: randomised controlled trial

DATA AND ANALYSES

Comparison 1. Dihydrocodeine vs buprenorphine

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Urinalysis: clean urine post-detoxification	2	150	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.42 [0.11, 1.57]
2 Abstinence self-report and urinalysis 3 months post-detoxification	2	150	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.59 [0.26, 1.31]
3 Abstinence self-report and urinalysis 6 months post-detoxification	2	150	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.59 [0.25, 1.39]
4 Treatment retention: early dropout	2	150	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	1.29 [0.99, 1.68]



Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
5 Overdose A&E attendance: 3 months post- detoxification	2	105	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	1.03 [0.22, 4.84]
6 Overdose A&E attendance: 6 months post- detoxification	2	68	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	0.58 [0.06, 5.66]
7 Overdose hospital attendance: 3 months post-detoxification	2	105	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	1.06 [0.20, 5.55]
8 Overdose hospital attendance: 6 months post-detoxification	2	68	Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI)	1.39 [0.23, 8.37]

Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1 Dihydrocodeine vs buprenorphine, Outcome 1 Urinalysis: clean urine post-detoxification.

Study or subgroup	DHC	buprenorphine	Risk Ratio	Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N	M-H, Random, 95% Cl		M-H, Random, 95% CI
Sheard 2009	17/48	24/42		72.75%	0.62[0.39,0.98]
Wright 2007	1/32	6/28		27.25%	0.15[0.02,1.14]
Total (95% CI)	80	70		100%	0.42[0.11,1.57]
Total events: 18 (DHC), 30 (buprenor	phine)				
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0.57; Chi ² =1.99,	df=1(P=0.16); I ² =49.63	%			
Test for overall effect: Z=1.29(P=0.2)				1	
	Favours	buprenorphine 0.0	05 0.2 1 5	20 Favours DHC	

Analysis 1.2. Comparison 1 Dihydrocodeine vs buprenorphine, Outcome 2 Abstinence self-report and urinalysis 3 months post-detoxification.

Study or subgroup	DHC	buprenorphine	1	lisk Ratio	Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N	M-H, R	andom, 95% CI		M-H, Random, 95% Cl
Sheard 2009	12/48	13/42	_	-	61.84%	0.81[0.41,1.57]
Wright 2007	4/32	10/28			38.16%	0.35[0.12,0.99]
Total (95% CI)	80	70			100%	0.59[0.26,1.31]
Total events: 16 (DHC), 23 (buprenorpl	hine)					
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0.15; Chi ² =1.77, d	lf=1(P=0.18); l ² =43	63%				
Test for overall effect: Z=1.3(P=0.19)						
	Favo	urs buprenorphine	0.05 0.2	1 5	²⁰ Favours DHC	

Analysis 1.3. Comparison 1 Dihydrocodeine vs buprenorphine, Outcome 3 Abstinence self-report and urinalysis 6 months post-detoxification.

Study or subgroup	DHC	buprenorphine		Risk Rat	tio		Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N		n/N M-H, Random				M-H, Random, 95% CI	
Sheard 2009	5/48	5/42		<mark> </mark>			53.52%	0.88[0.27,2.81]
Wright 2007	3/32	7/28					46.48%	0.38[0.11,1.31]
Total (95% CI)	80	70					100%	0.59[0.25,1.39]
Total events: 8 (DHC), 12 (bupre	norphine)							
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =0.9	4, df=1(P=0.33); I ² =0%							
Test for overall effect: Z=1.21(P=	-0.23)					ī		
	Favo	urs buprenorphine	0.05	0.2 1	5	20	Favours DHC	

Analysis 1.4. Comparison 1 Dihydrocodeine vs buprenorphine, Outcome 4 Treatment retention: early dropout.

Study or subgroup	DHC	buprenorphine		Risk Ratio			Weight	Risk Ratio	
	n/N	n/N		м-н, і	Random, 95%	CI			M-H, Random, 95% CI
Sheard 2009	15/48	10/42			+			14.91%	1.31[0.66,2.6]
Wright 2007	28/32	19/28			-			85.09%	1.29[0.97,1.72]
Total (95% CI)	80	70			•			100%	1.29[0.99,1.68]
Total events: 43 (DHC), 29 (buprer	norphine)								
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =0, df=	=1(P=0.96); I ² =0%								
Test for overall effect: Z=1.9(P=0.0	06)								
		Favours DHC	0.05	0.2	1	5	20	Favours buprenorphir	e

Analysis 1.5. Comparison 1 Dihydrocodeine vs buprenorphine, Outcome 5 Overdose A&E attendance: 3 months post-detoxification.

Study or subgroup	DHC	buprenorphine		Risk Ratio				Weight	Risk Ratio
n/N		n/N		M-H, Random, 95% Cl					M-H, Random, 95% CI
Sheard 2009	1/23	1/27						32.57%	1.17[0.08,17.74]
Wright 2007	2/28	2/27			-			67.43%	0.96[0.15,6.37]
Total (95% CI)	51	54				-		100%	1.03[0.22,4.84]
Total events: 3 (DHC), 3 (buprer	norphine)								
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =0.0	01, df=1(P=0.91); l ² =0%								
Test for overall effect: Z=0.04(P	=0.97)			1			1		
		Favours DHC	0.05	0.2	1	5	20	Favours buprenorphir	ie

Analysis 1.6. Comparison 1 Dihydrocodeine vs buprenorphine, Outcome 6 Overdose A&E attendance: 6 months post-detoxification.

Study or subgroup	DHC n/N	buprenorphine n/N		Risk Ratio M-H, Random, 95% Cl				Weight	Risk Ratio M-H, Random, 95% Cl
Sheard 2009	1/12	2/14						100%	0.58[0.06,5.66]
		Favours DHC	0.05	0.2	1	5	20	Favours buprenorphi	ne



Study or subgroup	DHC	DHC buprenorphine			Risk Ratio			Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N n/N		M-H, Random, 95% CI				M-I		M-H, Random, 95% CI
Wright 2007	0/20	0/22							Not estimable
Total (95% CI)	32	36						100%	0.58[0.06,5.66]
Total events: 1 (DHC), 2 (buprenorphine)									
Heterogeneity: Not applicable									
Test for overall effect: Z=0.46(P=0.64)									
		Favours DHC	0.05	0.2	1	5	20	Favours buprenorphir	10

Analysis 1.7. Comparison 1 Dihydrocodeine vs buprenorphine, Outcome 7 Overdose hospital attendance: 3 months post-detoxification.

Study or subgroup	DHC	buprenorphine		R	sk Ratio		Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N n/N		M-H, Ra	ndom, 95% Cl			M-H, Random, 95% Cl
Sheard 2009	1/23	2/27				-	50.14%	0.59[0.06,6.06]
Wright 2007	2/28	1/27					49.86%	1.93[0.19,20.05]
Total (95% CI)	51	54					100%	1.06[0.2,5.55]
Total events: 3 (DHC), 3 (buprenor	rphine)							
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0; Chi ² =0.5, c	lf=1(P=0.48); I ² =0%							
Test for overall effect: Z=0.07(P=0.	94)							
		Favours DHC	0.05	0.2	1 5	20	Favours buprenorphir	ne

Analysis 1.8. Comparison 1 Dihydrocodeine vs buprenorphine, Outcome 8 Overdose hospital attendance: 6 months post-detoxification.

Study or subgroup	DHC	buprenorphine			Risk Ratio			Weight	Risk Ratio
	n/N	n/N		м-н,	Random, 959	% CI			M-H, Random, 95% CI
Sheard 2009	2/12	3/14						70.28%	0.78[0.15,3.91]
Wright 2007	2/20	0/22						29.72%	5.48[0.28,107.62]
Total (95% CI)	32	36						100%	1.39[0.23,8.37]
Total events: 4 (DHC), 3 (buprenorph	iine)								
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =0.52; Chi ² =1.35,	df=1(P=0.25); I ² =2	25.68%							
Test for overall effect: Z=0.36(P=0.72))	~							
		Favours DHC	0.05	0.2	1	5	20	Favours buprenorphir	e

ADDITIONAL TABLES

Table 1. Criteria for 'Risk of bias' assessmen	Table 1.	Criteria fo	r 'Risk of bias'	assessment
------------------------------------------------	----------	-------------	------------------	------------

ltem	Judgement	Description
1. Random se- quence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	The investigators describe a random component in the sequence generation process such as: random number table; computer random number generator; coin tossing; shuf-fling cards or envelopes; throwing dice; drawing of lots; minimisation.

Table 1. Criteria for 'Risk of bias' assessment (Continued)

	High risk	The investigators describe a non-random component in the sequence generation process such as: odd or even date of birth; date (or day) of admission; hospital or clinic record number; alternation; judgement of the clinician; results of a laboratory test or a series of tests; availability of the intervention.	
	Unclear risk	Insufficient information about the sequence generation process to permit judgement of low or high risk.	
2. Allocation con- cealment (selec- tion bias)	Low risk	Investigators enrolling participants could not foresee assignment because one of the fol- lowing, or an equivalent method, was used to conceal allocation: central allocation (in- cluding telephone, web-based, and pharmacy-controlled randomisation); sequential- ly numbered drug containers of identical appearance; sequentially numbered, opaque, sealed envelopes.	
	High risk	Investigators enrolling participants could possibly foresee assignments because one of the following methods was used: open random allocation schedule (e.g. a list of random numbers); assignment envelopes without appropriate safeguards (e.g. if envelopes were unsealed or nonopaque or not sequentially numbered); alternation or rotation; date of birth; case record number; any other explicitly unconcealed procedure.	
	Unclear risk	Insufficient information to permit judgement of low or high risk. This is usually the case if the method of concealment is not described or not described in sufficient detail to allow a definite judgement.	
3. Blinding of participants and providers (perfor- mance bias) Objective out- comes	Low risk	No blinding or incomplete blinding, but the review authors judge that the outcome is not likely to be influenced by lack of blinding.	
		Blinding of participants and key study personnel ensured, and unlikely that the blinding could have been broken.	
	High risk	No blinding or incomplete blinding, and the outcome is likely to be influenced by lack of blinding.	
		Blinding of key study participants and personnel attempted, but likely that the blinding could have been broken, and the outcome is likely to be influenced by lack of blinding.	
	Unclear risk	Insufficient information to permit judgement of low or high risk.	
4. Blinding of participants and providers (perfor- mance bias). Subjective out- comes	Low risk	Blinding of participants and providers ensured and unlikely that the blinding could h been broken.	
	High risk	No blinding or incomplete blinding, and the outcome is likely to be influenced by lack of blinding;	
		Blinding of key study participants and personnel attempted, but likely that the blinding could have been broken, and the outcome is likely to be influenced by lack of blinding.	
	unclear risk	Insufficient information to permit judgement of low or high risk.	
5. Blinding of out- come assessor	Low risk	No blinding of outcome assessment, but the review authors judge that the outcome mea- surement is not likely to be influenced by lack of blinding.	
(detection bias). Objective out-		Blinding of outcome assessment ensured, and unlikely that the blinding could have been broken.	
comes	High risk	No blinding of outcome assessment, and the outcome measurement is likely to be influ- enced by lack of blinding;	

Table 1. Criteria for 'Risk of bias' assessment (Continued)

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions.

Better health.

Cochrane

Librarv

Blinding of outcome assessment, but likely that the blinding could have been broken, and the outcome measurement is likely to be influenced by lack of blinding.

	Unclear risk	Insufficient information to permit judgement of low or high risk.
6. Blinding of out- come assessor (detection bias).	Low risk	Blinding of outcome assessment ensured, and unlikely that the blinding could have been broken.
Subjective out- comes	High risk	No blinding of outcome assessment, and the outcome measurement is likely to be influ- enced by lack of blinding;
		Blinding of outcome assessment, but likely that the blinding could have been broken, and the outcome measurement is likely to be influenced by lack of blinding.
	Unclear risk	Insufficient information to permit judgement of low or high risk.
7. Incomplete out- come data (attri- tion bias).	Low risk	No missing outcome data
		Reasons for missing outcome data unlikely to be related to true outcome (for survival da- ta, censoring unlikely to be introducing bias)
For all outcomes except retention in treatment or		Missing outcome data balanced in numbers across intervention groups, with similar reasons for missing data across groups
dropout		For dichotomous outcome data, the proportion of missing outcomes compared with ob- served event risk not enough to have a clinically relevant impact on the intervention ef- fect estimate
		For continuous outcome data, plausible effect size (difference in means or standardised difference in means) among missing outcomes not enough to have a clinically relevant impact on observed effect size
		Missing data imputed using appropriate methods
		All randomised participants are reported/analysed in the group they were allocated to by randomisation irrespective of non-compliance and co-interventions (intention to treat)
	High risk	Reason for missing outcome data likely to be related to true outcome, with either imbal- ance in numbers or reasons for missing data across intervention groups
		For dichotomous outcome data, the proportion of missing outcomes compared with ob- served event risk enough to induce clinically relevant bias in intervention effect estimate
		For continuous outcome data, plausible effect size (difference in means or standardised difference in means) among missing outcomes enough to induce clinically relevant bias in observed effect size
		'As-treated' analysis done with substantial departure of the intervention received from that assigned at randomisation
	Unclear risk	Insufficient information to permit judgement of low or high risk (e.g. number randomised not stated, no reasons for missing data provided; number of dropouts not reported for each group).
8. Selective re- porting (reporting bias)	Low risk	The study protocol is available and all of the study's pre-specified (primary and sec- ondary) outcomes that are of interest in the review have been reported in the pre-speci- fied way.
		The study protocol is not available but it is clear that the published reports include all expected outcomes, including those that were pre-specified (convincing text of this nature may be uncommon).



Table 1. Criteria for 'Risk of bias' assessment (Continued)

 Unclear risk	Insufficient information to permit judgement of low or high risk.
	The study report fails to include results for a key outcome that would be expected to have been reported for such a study.
	One or more outcomes of interest in the review are reported incompletely so that they cannot be entered in a meta-analysis.
	One or more reported primary outcomes were not pre-specified (unless clear justification for their reporting is provided, such as an unexpected adverse effect).
	One or more primary outcomes is reported using measurements, analysis methods or subsets of the data (e.g. subscales) that were not pre-specified.
High risk	Not all of the study's pre-specified primary outcomes have been reported.

APPENDICES

Appendix 1. Search strategies

Cochrane Drugs and Alchohol Specialised Register (via CRSLive)

1 February 2019

dihydrocodeine or Codhydrin or codhydrine or codicontin or cohydrin or dehacodin or df118 or "dh codeine" or "di-hydrin" or didrate or dihydrin or dihydroneopine or drocode or hydrocodeine or hydrocodin or nadein or nadeine or napacodin or novicodin or paracodein or paracodin or parzone or rapacodin or remedacen or "tiamon mono" AND INREGISTER

CENTRAL (via onlinelibrary.wiley.com)

2019, Issue 11

#1 (dihydrocodeine or Codhydrin or codhydrine or codicontin or cohydrin or dehacodin or df118 or "dh codeine" or "di-hydrin" or didrate or dihydrin or dihydroneopine or drocode or hydrocodeine or hydrocodin or nadeine or nadeine or napacodin or novicodin or paracodein or paracodin or parzone or rapacodin or remedacen or "tiamon mono"):ti,ab,kw

#2 MeSH descriptor: [Opioid-Related Disorders] explode all trees

#3 MeSH descriptor: [Substance Abuse, Intravenous] explode all trees

#4 MeSH descriptor: [Substance Withdrawal Syndrome] explode all trees

#5 ((opiate* or opioid* or narcot* or heroin* or drug or substance) and (abstin* or abstinen* or abus* or addict* or depend* or detoxify* or desintoxi* or disintoxis* or overdos* or intoxicat* or withdraw* or relaps*)):ti,ab

#6 #2 or #3 or #4 or #5

#7 #1 and #6

#8 #1 and #6 in Trials

MEDLINE (PubMed)

1 February 2019

#1 "Opioid-Related Disorders" [MeSH]

#2 opiate*[tiab] OR opioid*[tiab] OR narcot*[tiab] OR heroin*[tiab] OR drug[tiab] OR substance[tiab]

#3 abstin*[tiab] OR abstinen*[tiab] OR abus*[tiab] OR addict*[tiab] OR depend*[tiab] OR detoxify*[tiab] OR desintoxi*[tiab] OR disintoxi*[tiab] OR overdos*[tiab] OR intoxicat*[tiab] OR withdraw*[tiab] OR relaps*[tiab]

Dihydrocodeine for detoxification and maintenance treatment in individuals with opiate use disorders (Review) Copyright © 2020 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



#4 #2 OR #3

#5 #1 AND #4

#6 "dihydrocodeine" [Supplementary Concept] OR dihydrocodeine [tiab]

#7 randomized controlled trial[pt]

#8 controlled clinical trial[pt]

#9 randomized[tiab]

#10 placebo[tiab]

#11 drug therapy[sh]

#12 randomly[tiab]

#13 trial[tiab]

#14 groups[tiab]

#15 #7 OR #8 OR #9 OR #10 OR #11 OR #12 OR #13 OR #14

#16 animals[mh] NOT humans[mh]

#17 #15 NOT #16

#18 #5 AND #6 AND #17

Embase (OVID)

1 February 2019

1 exp opiate addiction/

2 ((opiate or opioid or narcot* or heroin* or drug or substance) and (abstin* or abstinen* or abus* or addict* or depend* or detoxify* or desintoxi* or disintoxi* or disintossi* or overdos* or intoxicat* or withdraw* or relaps*)).ti,ab.

31 or 2

4 exp dihydrocodeine/

5 dihydrocodeine.tw.

6 (dh adj codeine).ti,ab.

7 di-hydrin.ti,ab.

8 (tiamon adj mono).ti,ab.

9 (codhydrin or codhydrine or codicontin or cohydrin or dehacodin or df118 or didrate or dihydrin or dihydroneopine or drocode or hydrocodeine or hydrocodin or nadein or nadeine or napacodin or novicodin or paracodein or paracodin or paracodin or remedacen).ti,ab.

10 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9

11 3 and 10

12 exp clinical trial/

13 (clin\$ adj3 trial\$).tw.

14 exp crossover procedure/

15 exp double blind procedure/

16 exp controlled clinical trial/



17 (placebo or assign* or allocat* or volunteer* or random* or factorial* or crossover).ti,ab.

18 ((singl\$ or doubl\$ or trebl\$ or tripl\$) adj3 (blind\$ or mask\$)).tw.

19 12 or 13 or 14 or 15 or 16 or 17 or 18

20 11 and 19

Web of Science

1 February 2019

#1 TS= dihydrocodeine

#2 TS=((opiate* OR opioid* OR narcot* OR heroin* OR drug OR substance) AND (abstin* OR abstinen* OR abus* OR addict* OR depend* OR detoxify* OR desintoxi* OR disintoxi* OR overdos* OR intoxicat* OR withdraw* OR relaps*))

#3 #1 AND #2

#4 TS= clinical trial* OR TS=research design OR TS=comparative stud* OR TS=evaluation stud* OR TS=controlled trial* OR TS=follow-up stud* OR TS=prospective stud* OR TS=random* OR TS=placebo* OR TS=(single blind*) OR TS=(double blind*)

#5 #3 AND #4

ICTRP

1 February 2019

dihydrocodeine

ClinicalTrials.gov

1 February 2019

dihydrocodeine

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

The concept for this review was developed by Tara Carney and Marie Claire van Hout. Tara Carney developed the data extraction form, was responsible for conducting the meta-analysis and overseeing the drafting of the review, and is the contact review author. Tara Carney and Ian Norman read all titles and abstracts included from the initial and updated search process and selected possibly relevant studies, and then Tara Carney obtained full copies of these studies, which both of these review authors used to undertake data extraction. Siphokazi Dada was responsible for entering data into the data extraction form. Nandi Siegfried assisted with critically appraising the study results before the meta-analysis, determining risk of bias, advising on the meta-analysis and assisting with grading the evidence. Charles Parry reviewed the meta-analysis and results. Tara Carney and Siphokazi Dada graded the evidence and developed the 'Summary of findings' tables. Marie Claire van Hout was primarily responsible for drafting the Discussion section. All review authors reviewed and commented on the drafts and final version of the review.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Tara Carney: none known

Marie Claire Van Hout: none known

Ian Norman: none known

Siphokazi Dada: none known

Nandi Siegfried: none known

Charles DH Parry: none known

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

No sources of support supplied

Dihydrocodeine for detoxification and maintenance treatment in individuals with opiate use disorders (Review) Copyright © 2020 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



External sources

• Funding, Other.

The research leading to these results has received funding from the European Community's Seventh Framework Programme *FP7/2007-2013* under grant agreement no. 611736

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW

- 1. Following extensive discussion among the review authors, we reordered slightly the secondary outcomes included in the protocol (Carney 2016).
- 2. Nandi Siegfried was added as author in order to add methodological rigour to the review.
- 3. We changed terminology to match the updated and now widely used DSM-5 (APA 2013), namely use of substance use disorders as opposed to dependence.
- 4. Planned subgroup and sensitivity analysis was not performed because we only included three studies.
- 5. Since there were not more than 10 included studies in the meta-analysis, we were not able to consider the risk of publication bias by examining the symmetry of funnel plots.
- 6. We were not able to assess risk of performance and detection bias separately for objective and subjective primary outcomes, because the included studies reported abstinence results combining self-report and urinalysis results.